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FOREWORD

Today when Democracy and Frcedom have become doubly
precious to the American people, it is 1important to look
back uporn the foundations which have made pessible our
heritaze. The roots of our way of 1life are sunk deep in
our soil., Planted by the piloncers wnc first bvroke the
earth and fought tc wrest a living from +the prairie, and
cultivated by succeeding generations, our american 1l1life
has flowered to its present perfection.

A study of this glorious growth is essential to the
making of good citizenship. By learning to understand
the problems of the builders of a county and a comnmunity,
the student of today can find the faith and inspiration
with which to face the trials of modern life,

With this thought in mind, pleasurc is taken in pre-
senting a new History of Frankiin County, which has been
carefully prepared by the Iowa Writers' Program of the
Work Projects Administration. 1Its pages carry the read-
er through the détailed development of the county and its
people from the colorful days of Indian cccupation down
to 1941. Events and dates have been selected with dis-
crimination and with all possible accuracy to achieve a
weli-balanced whole., This history is presented as an

educational contribution tc the making of good Americans.
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INTRODUCTION

Behind the simple words on four bronze plaques lies
hidden the story of the restless-hearted who dared to leave
the old paths and travel the buffalo arnd Indian trails to the
unknown prairie lands across the Mississippi. In TFranklin
County, the earliest comers reached to the end of their
trails in Reeve Township and there began another outpost on
the fringe of civilization - a cabin, a school, a post
office - the nucleus of an organized community. The cabins
and the log schooclhouses, the marks of their effort, are gone,
but the granite boulders that mark the sites are witnesses
that fine results came from their toil. The story of their
1ives begins the unrolling of Franklin County's history.

Much of their work was near HMaysviile, south of Hampton
in Reeve Township, and there the Franklin County D. A. Re.
have placed monuments commemorating them.,

One reads, "Site of the First School House 1in Franklin
County. Built in 1855. ZFirst Burial Ground in County." An-
other tells us of our county's first building: "First cubin
in Franklin County, Built by Reeve, bMMayne and Phelps in 1853}

A third bears record of rapid frontiering progress:
"Franklin County Pioneers 1852, James B. Reevs, Adaiine Receve
County Judge, Captain of Company H.32nd Iowa."™ And the faurth
records the first hard-won industry: "laysvilile, 1856-1890,
One Rod MNorth Stood E. L. Clock's Store In Which the First
Post Office in Franklin County was Established 1856, Discon-
tinued 1890. Maysville Had a School House, Hotel, 2 Black-
smith Shops, 2 Stores and a Steam Sawmill, Population about
150, Maysvilile Post iasters: S. C. Braze¢lton, J. Dayton, B.
B. Morris, J. Dunn, E. H. Sparling, A. E. Birdgeman, A. H.
Brown, G. HE. kitchell, W. C. Boyles, E. L. Clock, J. He. Stev=-
enson, B. White, H. ¥Wheceler, G. ¥W. Wilton, S. Chrysler, J. H.
Clock.™ |

The substance of their dreams 1lives on in the splendid
schoolhouses and cunfortable homes of Franklin County. NoO
distance was too far for these people to travel to build the
law and prder and justice that la2id the ground for the future
they saw The simple words ‘on the four obscure bronze plaques
tell of the dreams they realized, and set the story of our
county in motione.



CEAPTER 1
LaRLIEST PRaAIRIE SCENES

“"In the land of the 0O0jibways,

In the pleasant land anc¢ peaceful,
Sing the mysteries of Mondamin

Sing the blessings of the cornfields.”

When the prairie was new and untouched, ¥Franxlin County
was a land of groves anC these seemed to the settler the
greatest nossible treasure, for groves of hardwood and soft-
wood trees were what they needed to build the first cabins
andéd to kindle the first <fires. iiayne's Grove was the
largest. It was filled with oak, basswooC, black walnut,
honey-locust, soft majsle, elm, box elder, cottonwooé, and
hickory. 1t wes nanmed for John liayne, the first settler to
reach Franilin County, and covered more than six square
nmiles. Since that time many of the trees have been cut down
but timber land in 1941 still 1looked 1like a forest, on
either side of the graveled road along the hills near Hamp-
ton.

Other forestations were Otis Grove on the Iowa River,
Van Horn's Grove in the central part of the county, Tharp's
Grove, Shobe's near which Sheffield was founded, and
Bailey's in the north portion, all from 800 to 1,200 acres
each., Smaller groves were Towhead and Blake's Grove, Four
1iile, Eighland, Hartgraves' and .llen's Grove. The groves
were not destroyed, anc the one at Beed's lake was replanted
in 1939 to become as beautiful as the original groves of
native timber.

The principal streams of Franklin County are the Iowa
River, passing through 13 sections in the southwestern por-
tion, Beaver Creek, :i.ayne's Creck, Harteraves' Creek formed
of Sgquare, Spring, Otter, and Bufifalo crecks, and the .est
Fork of the Cedar.

The West ForX of the Cedar enters Franklin County six
or seven miles west of its northeast corner and runs south-
east, leaving the county at the northeast corner. Bailey's
Creek and 1I‘ayne's Creek empty into it and the Beaver Creek
empties into the Cedar.

Wow that we know the streams and groves of our County
let us pretend that we are wandering over this land as it
was when the first settlers saw it. There are no towns,
roads, bridges, or fences - not even one cabin or farm house

2



Herds of elk and buffalo feed along the cquiet streams, wild
roses bloom and ruskrats work in the sloughs. Let us pre-
tend that it is early sorning in summer - perhaps 1630. The
sky brightens until it is flaming 1like a majestic bonfire,
with red and golden light. Down in the slough the whip cups
of the Canadian anenone are tangled with the green and shin-
ing stems of the blue spiderwort and wild iris. Every grass
blade flashes with dew. ere is nothing on the 1lonely
prairie but waving mniles of grass and dark groves of trees
in the distance. Sudderly a band of Indians rides into view
over a distant slope. Each Indian carries a kxnife and spear,
for they are hunting elk. They ride irn a great circle and
gradually close in upon game. ‘hen the elk are exhausted
and confused the Indian riders lean down and cut their
throats without leaving the backs of their hard ridden
ponies.

Iiow there is Dblood on the prairie and the grass is
trampled cdown. Here the Indiar scuaws will skin the game
and make camp. Here they will build fires and feast for
davs until the nmeat is gone. A white man visiting the camp
would find the smell of the Dbloody skins and the decaying
bones intolerable. But the Indians do not mind. They are
happy as long as there is plenty to eat. Wwhen the meat is
gone they go without eating until another hunting party is
ready to go out. For fuel they find buffalo chips, rosin-
weeds or wood. After eating, stuffing and then starving,
for three or four days or a week, they move on. But the
smell of o0ld buffalo and elk hides 1is still bad. Even the
white man's horse would shy away from it.

Fall comes and the prairie is clean again. The Indians
have moved eastward toward the liississippi River to fish and
hunt. The »rairies are rnow a nisty purple with the ripe
bluestem. XHere and there are the high gold heads of yellow
rosinweed, sunflowers and golden rod. The grass bends in
the wind showing yellow grass stalks, scarlet rose berries
and brown seed heads of grass. There is no sign of habita-
tion anywhere. Then over a2 far hill Jurches a (Conestoga
wagon, ané the history of Franklin County has begun.



CEHAPTER 2
THE IIDIANS IN FRANKLIN COUNTY

among the first of the Indian tribes +o be found over
this region were the Ioways. They were of Siouan stock and
spoke the language of the Sioux. They were a roving people
and it is thought that they came down into Iowa from the
woodlands of the Great lLakes. They were constantly at war
with larger tribes--the Sacs and Foxes and the 3ioux. When
the white mnen came, the Ioways were often stricken with
snallpox and their numbers gradually diminished until there
were only a few left. In 1836 these went to [{ansas where
sorre of them still dwell on the Great Nermaha Reservation
there.

The Sacs and Foxes, two tribes that were always united
for war and mutual defense, came into Iowa about 1733. They
became very nowerful and drove almost every other tribe
away. The braves shaved their heads except for a tuft on
the crown, and to this they fastened a distinctive crest
made of a deer's tailil and horse hair. Both of these tribes
were woodland Indians of algonquian descent and both had the
same customs and religion. ‘When Zebulon Fike explored Iowa
in 1805, he foundé about 2,850 Sacs and 1,750 Fozes.

There was one tribe of Indians which the Sacs and Foxes
could not drive out of Iowa--the warlike Sioux, who called
themselves Dakotas, a word meaning "allies."™ Armed with wer
clubs and lances and daubed with hideous »aint, these
dangerous Iudians defied zll1 enenies.

The first white men who came into Iowa wanted furs and
skins and began to trade knives, axes, bright-colored cloth,
and blankets, beads and guns for the pelts which the Indian
hunters brought in. Soon fur trading »osts were built along
the rivers and as the fur trade increased the white men made
mnore and nore naoney and the Indians learned to depend on the
trading posts for the things of the white nman.

Indian agents were sent out by the TUnited States
Governrient to look after interests of the Indians, to teach
then, to interpret their language, and to Xeep the peace be-
tween the tribes and between the Indians and the white men.
The greatest trocubles were between the Sacs and Foxes and
the Sioux, so a treaty was arranged. In the summer of 1€Z5
William Clark and Lewis Cass, representing the United States
Government, called a great council and invited all the
tribes in the region to assemble at Prairie du Chien, a town
Girectly across the river from what later became McGregor,
Iowa.



Indians came by the nunéreds ané camped along the
shores of the river and on the islands between. The Sacs,
Foxes, and Toways were the last to arrive. The pipe -of
peace was passed around for all to smoke ané¢ the white men
gave presents of besf, corn, sugar, tobacco, and a 1little
whiskey. The Indians became friendly and agrecd to live in
neace Tforever. A line was run near the present "berder of
Franklin County, the Sioux agreed to stay north of it and

the Sacs and Foxes promised to keep to the scuth.

Within five years, however, the Indians had forgotten
this imaginary line and the Szacs ané Foxes had killed some
Sioux warriors along the Cedar River. In the meantime an-
other Indian agent, Joseph L. Street, was sent out by Presi-
dent John Cuincy adams to take charge of the iinnebagoes in
Wisconsin and was stationed at Prairie du Chien. hen,
Street heard about the new trouble among the Indians he
called another council at the same place.

On that day the Sioux Indians saw theilr chance for re-
venge. Hiding about fifteen miles down the river they wait-
ed for their fces to come by. at sunset the canoces of the
Sacs and Foxes slippred up the river ana pmoveda to the shore
and unloaded to camp for the night. The Sioux jumped to
their feet with a2 horrible yell and started Xilling the un-
suspecting Sacs and Foxes, who thought evervything woulé be
peaceful &as it had been before. They could not escape and
were a2ll killed but one boy and one warrior.

The Indian agents made another effort to establish
peace, and czlled a council at which the various tribes were
asked to give up land to be set aside as a neutral ground to
separate the warring nation. Th Sioux agreed to glve a
strip 20 miles wide and the Sacs and Foxes consenteé to give
another strip of the same size. Thus a swath of lanéd 40
miles wide was created, running from the iiississippl River
on the east to the Des Yoines River on the west, and Frank-
lin County was within this neutral ground.

All went well again for a short while but it was not
the nature of the Indians to Tforget a wrong. The very next
year a war varty of the Sacs and Foxes discovered a canp of
Sicux near Prairie du Clxien and kxilled 17 ©braves and some
women and children during a night raid.

So the warfare continued., Tie I:..dian agents tried an-
other plan to establish peace and also mak roori for the
white settlers who were becoming thicker in Wisconsin. The
Winnebago Indians were moved from Wisconsin to the ifeutral
Ground in Iowa and protected from the Sioux and the Foxes by
Fort atxinson, a post built by the Government on the Turkey
River.



Because Tranxlin County was in the neutral strip and
under the protection of the soldiers, tkere was not much
trouble between the whites and the Indians there. There
were frecuent scares, however, and in 1846 +the Governmernt
again asked the Winnebagoues to move, this time into ilinne-
sota. The Indians were slow to respond and the trouble con-
tinued. A white man was murdered the following spring and a
band of Sioux xilled several Winnebagoes near the Cedar
River. agent Street had built two schools for the Indians,
where Indian chkildren were taught to speak Inglish anrd to
reac¢ and write. He had also tried to teach the Indian men
to farm, but they would not learn. They thought farning was
sguaw-work. They tore down the fences and turned their
ponies in to feed on the +wheat stacks. Soldiers were Kept
busy chasing Indians and trying to Keep them all in ordéer.

At last, in 184, the solidiers madae ready to siove the
Winne-a~oes out of Iowa. They rounded them up and helped
them to collecet wagons, teams anéd food at the fort. i/hen
the march began there were 2,000 Indians, 1,600 ponies, 160
arny wagons andé a large band of mounted soldiers.

This was the last of the main camp of the Wirnebagoes
but a few 1Incians straggled back and six years later there
was another Tfrightful scare whichk drove every settler from
Franklin County. This scare was caused bv a tragedy at
Clear lake in which a boy was mnmassacred. Clear lake was
also regarded as within the neutral ground between the Sioux
and the Sac anéd Foxes but because of the 1aXe this region
was considered the best hunting ground and the Indians were
reluctant to leave it. The Sioux especially were jealous of
the Winnebagoes bedause this fine region had been given to
then,

In 1£€51 a man named James Hewitt, who had been a trader
anong the ‘Jinnevarces, settled at Clear Iake. He was well
liked by these ‘J/iscorsin Indians and in the £all of 1853
several Winnebagoes brought their families and located near
his cabin. Thelr chief was called To-Shan-ega or Toshanaga,
the Little Otter. Thev called Hewitt ITock-a-Shock which is,
Winnebago for ‘Thew it.”

These Indians hunted by day and, as soune of the white
men have said, ‘made night hideous with 'music' ané dancing®
'Pagainena was supplied to them by dealers in a nearbdy
settlement. The name of this drink is made from two Winne-
bago worés, ‘'‘pageda?, fire, and “anena", vater, the whole
Just being whiskey.

The Sioux who liveé farther north heard of this band of
Indians and determined to exterminate +them. About 3500
Sioux came down to the lake ané set up camp. Two of them
entered the Winnebago camp, pretending to bde very friendly.
The Winnebagues entertained them but all the time suspected
mischief. Toshanaga told Captain Eewitt of their suspicions,
but the white men thought the Sioux really meant friendship



and nersuadeé the chief that all would bve siell. That even-
ing, when Toshanaga's son rode Hewitt's horse after the cows
as was his custom, those at the camp heard a shot and soon
the horse came galloving bacik riderless. Toshsnaga was sure
now that the boy had been murdered. Hewitt examined the
horse and found drops of bloodéd and a small »iece of bone on
its back. Then he too was frightened, and went with Toshan-
aga to lookX for the boy. Down the road they founé the head-
less body of Toshanaga's sone.

The JinneBaBoves buried the boGy and that night Hewitt
and two other white men, fearing that more trouble would
follow, helped the ‘Jinnebagoes load their wagons and started
them toward Fort Snelling in liinnesota. Ilessengers were
sent out to all white settlements to warn the 2»eople about
the Sioux. Soon after the Jinnebagoes started, a detach-
ment of 50 soldiers arrived at the lake and the report
spread through northern Iowa that a massacre of whites was
expected at any moment. This was the nicht of July 4, 1&54.

In the middéle of the nicht the alarm was s>read. ''The
Indians! The Indians!” It was carried hurriedly over the
miles from cabin to cabin. hen each piouneer, :Liore asleep
than awake opened his dJoor he was tolé "Four hundreé 3ioux
warriors are at Clear Lake and .oving this way.”

By daslight the whole settlement was rezdy to go except
John :.ayne and Dr. arledge. Arlecge's wife hLad died only a
few days before snd the settlers thought that he rerained
because of this. John i.ayne and his farily went to the Iowa
River. As they had only two horse teams ané the rest were
oxen their progress was slow. They had tc¢ drive their
cattle along ané nart of their livestock was left behind.
When they csoue within sight of the grove in ihich stood the
Down's cabin 211 the Toents f27ily rushed out to 1ok =t the
long train of wagons. The Ilaynel were by that tirie so nerv-
ous and Tfrightened that in the half light of early rnorning
they thought at first the nembers of this white fanily were
Indians ccraing out to pillage the train. It was impossible
to get away with the heavy wagsons so they called a halt and
the little »arty got ready to defend itself Trom the wagons.

“hen the Down's fanily came nearer, however, they saw
that they haé made a mnistake and were much relieved. The
Doim's had no tezm but went on ;ith the »arty on foot. at
nicht they camped and sentinels were ©posted. 1liiss Octavia
Smith, the pioneer teacher of the county, who taught a few
pupils in one of the homes in Reeve Township, insisted on
taking her turn in standing guard with the rest.

Some of the moving families went to the place where liew
Eartford later was founded and some went to Cedar Falls.
Some Treturned to their homes in about two weeks, while
others stayed until after the harvest ané returned tc find



that most of thelir sod corn anG vegetzbles haé been Gestroy-
ed by whatever livestocX they had left at hone.

It is not known vhether i:ayne ever returned with his
family to the grove which had been naxsed for him. There was
sonething mysterious about him which his =neighbors could
never uncerstand. Ie was quick-uwitted and sharp but could
nelther read nor write. HKHe seemed to prefer living on the
verge of civilizgtion for as soon as a place becare settled
he would move on. He divided his time tetween trapping and
hunting and making claims. Ke never referred to his past
life so many thought he had escaned to the west to avoid the
arm of the law.

It is a strange thing that everrune remembered layne
after he had gone to “*follow the heels of the buffslo farth-
er west', but they did not know how to spell his name. Cn
the first maps which located the grove and the creex it was
spelled "liain® Dbut 1later W. N. Davidson, an attorney at
Hampton, drew a large map of the county ané in marxing the
creekX spelled it liavne.' This became accepted.

Sorte accoumts say that a settler named Van LHorn first
brought the news of thhe Indians to l:iayne's Grove, that he
carried the word to Iloon's and that Silas }oon carried it
on. This Van Horn came to the Garner caebin before bedtime
ané the families immediately started getting ready to leave,
But as Garners had a large flock of chickens and as the
women ¢id not like to leave thenm, it was thought that the
best wavy to take them aleng was to xill, pick and cook themn.
They had to have food for their journey anyway, so this glan
was adopted and they 21l went to work. The job recuired
nearly all night but by daylizht they had a large supply of

avory chicken to take along, andéd everytining was loaded.
They started, taiing the trail which led down klayne's creek.
The first night they caaped at the #Zorse lieck® near what
was later to be Xnovn as Willoughby in Butler County. This
was a long drive for ox teams. The next day tiey went to
Cedar Falls, The Garner famnily remained away &bout three
weeks. This flight delayed the settlenent of Franxkxlin Coun-
ty and caused loss and trouble to all.



CE~APTER 3
=.rRLY SETTL-RS OF FRATELITY CCUNTY

The men who were forced to -move from their homes in
such haste that terrible night of July 4, 1854, had come to
Franklin County during the two preceding years. A4déison
Phelps was one of the first. He started with his family
frcm Ohio to found a new home in Iowa in 1852. Xe brought
with him also cne of his neighbors who wanteé to examine the
territory. This was James B. Reeve who was emploved by
Phelps to drive a team and take 2 load of goods. Phelps had
relatives along +the Cedar River and when they reached the
home of these relatives the Phelps fa:iily stayed there while
Phelps and Reeve went on farther west. They were joined at
Hardin City, which was +then called Rice's Mill, by a man
narned Moore. after traveling sume distance they came to a
large grove where they camped.

This grove of oak, hickory, and cottonwcod was a won-

derful sight to the pioneer. It was a wvast dark green
island of trees 1in the midst of an unending sea of waving
crass. 1t was a place where irewood couldéd bte @gathered,
where 1logs could Dbe founé for cabins anc rails cut for
fences. The pioneers knew that the winter winds would be
shut out by these dark woods and that game would always be
plentiful there. One of the party went out iniseciately and
shot a »prairie chicken for supper. The noise of the gun
echoed baekx from the surrounding hills, ard thken . another
white man, who haéd also arrived that day, sucdenly appeareq
wal¥%ing out from the trees toward them. “I Xnew that was no
Injun's sun” he said, *'so I lost no time looking up my newv
neighbors.
This man was John ilayne for whonm the grove was after-
ward named. He had been hunting and tranning andéd in follow-
ineg up the river had found the grove. Xe had driven all the
way from Indiana 1in ar old Hoosier wagon drawn bv two yoke
of oxen. In the wagor were his wife and child, a bundéle of
beaver and minx traps, his rifle, ané a scant sunply of do-
rmestic utensils. “When he saw the three men he susgested
that all of them might camp together. Iirs. ilavyne zot supper
for the party, rade the Tfirst biscuits in Frsuklin County!
Eot hlSCV’+° shortened w1th coon's grease, ané served with
fried prairie chicken! 117¢ wonder Phelps and Reeve decided
that here was the place to stay.

#ith l.aynefs oxen they broke furrows to mark the bound-
aries of +their c¢laims. Then whkile Pnelns and Reeve went
bacx to get the family anéd more provisioms, Mayne built his
cabin, which stocé near the ford and was the first builéing
erected 1In the county. It was mnade of 1logs with a dirt
floor and shingles of basswood bark.



Jhen Recve with Fhelps ané the Phelps family returned
they lived with the i'ayne facily in the newly built cabine.
Thelps started +to build a cabin for his fanily but got it
only three or four logs high when cold weather set in and he
had to give it up. Winter came on too fast. They had not
gathered enough hay for the horses nor hauled enough pro
visions to last all winter. Phelns sand Rieve went to Janes-
ville with the horses and arranged to have thenr Xxept there
all winter. Then they returned and begzan hunting and trap-
5ing. They thought that with plenty of fresh meat they could
set along until sprince but when they ran out of flour and
meal they decicded that soneone nmust go for susniies.

Rceve said he would go and he set out on foot for
ganesville to get his team so that he could raul bacX vlenty
of food. Scvon after he had started, however, it began to
snpow ané a nortxhxr wind macde it Dbitterly coldéd. He waliked on
as fast as he could but toward nieht he founé that his hands
and feet were freezing. He was so worn out and cold that he
wanted to lie dovm 1in the snow and give up but he Xeot on.
At last he reached allen's Grove on the ‘Jest Fork of the
Cedar. FHe had sume matches and here he founé wood and built
a fire. He then tcok off his shoes and found his feet
frozen and in terrible conéition. There was no one to help
him, and his feet became nore anéd nore painful until he
almost cried aloud in agony. I1iirsht came on the prairie and
the wolves started hnowling. here with +the wclves, the
little bonfire, and the extrerme pain in his hands and feet,
Reeve waited until morning. By the time it was 1ight enough
to see his feet had become so swollen that ke could not get
his shoes back on. e kenit cutting them down and cutting
them down 1n hope of getting +them on, until there was not
mauch left of the shoes, but he did finally get them on and
started out for Bealer's Grove, a settlement now caulled.
i.arble Rock. He arrived there late that night, almost dead
from cold and fatigue.

after resting two or three days and trving to get his
feet well agalin he left for Janesviile, naving got a teanm.
There he staved for weeks, imopatiently waiting to cet well,
at least well enough to walk., He returned to laynet's Greve
in liarch to find that the Phelps family had become dis-
couraged after so many hardsiiips and so much hunger, and
were lesving the ccuntry.

sfter Phelps left, Mavne and Reeve divided up the
winter's catch of furs. Mayne gave Reeve a small dun mare
and promised him a certain numter of weeks' board for his
share of the furs. a few days later l.ayne started a cuarrel
with Reeve, ané the younger nan thceught that ilayne wanted
him to leave to save paving the board. Ee refused to go.
Iater in the spring a sort of peace was "patched un” but the
men never became real friends.
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What sort of wman was James B. Reeve? Years later his
friend, E. K. Trumbull wrote of hinm, “The neonle of Hanpton
will never kXpnow how much they owe to Judge Reeve. iie was a
rnagnpificent specimen of western production: & sreat, big,
brave giant of a man, with a heart teander as a wonan's. He
was nosnitable and generous to a fault, if such a thing can
be. He was an iacorruptible officer and a thoroughly honest
man, Ee was a great reacer and hacé rare practical sense.®

Leander Reeve, brother of James, care out from Qhio in
liay, 1853, and took the Phelps' claim, Jzmes broke ten
acres on his claim ané illayne, who had by now iade an addi-
tional clein, broke ten acres on that. late in June George
Sturms, Henry Garner, and a ilr. Fairchild came with their
families to the erove. iayne clained all the best locations
fie sold his original claim with its shanty to Sturms, the
second of his claims to EHenry Garner and another place to
Fairchilé. Then like nmany pioneers of that time he roved
farther west, this time +taking a claim in a grove above
tlaysville.

Later Samuel and Job Garner came. The latter applied
to James and Leander Reeve for a niece of good land they
were holding in reserve for a friend back East. The set-
tlers often chose desirable land rnear their own farms anad
claimed it for some <friend or relative who had not vyet
arrived. If the exnected nHerson failed to anhear, the clain
would be for sale., Thus the Reeve broethers had taken up a
farm for .andrew Coffin, a friend 1in Chio, but when he diad
not come they offered the claim to Job Garner for $200.
Garner was & preacher; since they needed one at the settle-
nent, he offered to sive his services to pay for the land.
sames and Leander Reeve were not churchgoers but they agreed
nevertheless. 3cme acconts sary that Garner »preached only
once, at the home of Fairchild. &ll we Xxnow is that several
historians tell us the first religious services were held in
the spring of 1853 in Fairchild's cabin. -

That summer James Reeve returned to Chio to bring his
wife and eigcht children to Towa by team andéd wagon. They
arrived Septenber 15, 1853 and speat their first winter in
the cabin begun by Phelps.

Some time afterwards, Silas liovon and TFeter Rhinehart
arrived, and as it -ms then too late in the season to build
a cabin, Rhinehert srent the cold weather with Sturms. Two
men named Crouch and ‘Jebb came next and both toox claims.
Crouch was iLlayne's broti:er-in-law, ané noved in with that
family,

During this winter the Crouch baby died. It was the
Tirst death in the county. lirs. llayne went to the James
Reeve cabin on horseback to borrow sugar twe days before the
baby died. The child was then very sick, and she told the
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Reeves when to expect the funeral. :Come day after to-
norrov,* she said, ‘*Tor it will surely be cone before that
time.” wWhen she spoke it was Sunday; and on Tuesdéay the
funeral was held,

In April, .ebb died while he was at work at Rice's 1iill.
His burial place and that of the Crouch baby, near the west
end of L.ayne's Grove, nave been nistaken for Irndian graves.

These are the fanmilies which wvintered at the Grove that
first 7ear: Judge Reeve, Job, Samuel and henry Garner, John
Liayne, <James Fairchild, George Sturms, Peter R..inehart,
3ilas l.oon, Crouch, .iebtb, and Dr. arledge. It was a year
later, in 1854, that these saiie people were frightened from
their homes by the Indian scare. Two children were born
that first winter when the Sturms and the Sanuel Garners
each had a scen. Abner Sturms was the first white child born
in Franklin County.

James Van Eorn came in 1€54 and tcook a farm about a
mile north of Hampton. This Van Horn waes the man who first
got word of the Indian trouble and came to Iiayne's Grove to
warn the other settlers.

John I. Popejoy 1left Ohio in 1854 to lookx for a farm
his father had taken in 1853 in Warren County. Iliot finding
anythine, he went to the land office located at Des l.oines
and noted that there were timber lots not yet entered in
Franklin County. Iie entered a forty acre tract in Highland
Grove, "unsight anrd unseen®, then drove out to find his lanéd
YThen he reached what he called 'his woods® and founé a
spring there, he was very hapny and imnediately decided that

ight there by the s»ring he wanted to live. But at that
moment two men came out of the woods at the saxne snot and
challenged his 1right to the claim. XEach =an haé a gun and
one of them vointed his threateningly at Popejoy, asking hinm
to leave at once because he who held the gun, had first
claim t¢ this land.

ropejoy had been restling near the spring ané he now
rose to his feet and said, “let me see your gun.* Tazing it
without resistance, he raised it and fired at a tree a few
roés off. ‘l.ow,™ he said, I waat this grove. If you have
a claim on it I will buy you out. If you haven't I will
make one in a few minutes.?

The fellow who had threatened him with the gun then led
him up a hill and showed where he haé begun m cabin. “/hen
Popejoy saw the cabin he realized that this stranger had a
real right to the land. He paid him $50 for the claim and
then returned to Des i:vines where he bought enough land ad-
joining the grove to make an entire section. After that he
drove back to his home. ZFopejoy was the second nan to set-
tle in Cakland township where this farm was located.
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About this same time *u1rc“11c g0t into a cifficulty
which forced him to leave ‘ayne s Grove. Aamons the eettlerQ
the greatest crime Xnmown in the commivnity was “jumping a
claim™”, or teking sozmeone else's farm. Cften a new setiler
would riakXe some trifling mistake in zarking his claim, such
as failins to rzeasure or stake ofT bounéaries correctly, or
not giving tie proper notice to the lanéd office in register-
ing the claim. There were men who toox advantage of these
small mistakes and woulé lay clainm to land evern when it was
being farmed. 3Such men were often speculators who wanted
only to fet contrcl of a large area of land but who did not
care to builé homes on the land or to farm it. A4All such
Tclainm ju;oers" were nuch hated and often nunished or driven
out of the community by bands of angry farrers. In June
such a sneculator came to Izyne's Grove and while exploring
the region he took 3 fancy to layne's claim. as Fairchild
was I.avne's neighbor the nian made friends witk him and found
out that llavne's c¢laim was defective or not »roperly regis-
tered., HKHe then "'entered l.ayne out?, taking over the land.
This raised such a feeling geainst TFairchildéd that he had to
leave, One settler rerarXed after he was gone, “T'was the
best thing he could do Tor he woulé hrave been shot i1f he had
stayed., '

During the sarme nmonth Ckarles legrett and a nman named
Loonis came rom Chio ané walxed from Glaterloo to lLiayne's
Grove. Cften they could not find springs from which to
drink ané were forced to érink from the sloughs. Tc¢ do this
they had to find a hole where an elkX or buffalo had stepped
into the soft ground leaving a depression filled with water.
Into this hoof-track they lowered a pint bottle until it
filled with water. The wabter was lukKe-wari, murky, anG dis-
agreeable but to find even this was consicered luck. They
finally reached their destination, however, and both took
farms. Loomis immediately hired a man to break sod on his
farm and after that the two men engased Jucse Reeve to Grive
them back to Cedar Falls; fror there they returned +to Chio
for their fanilies.

Leggett later told of killing an elk in 3edtember 1E35.
This must have been co©ne of the last of the elk in Franklin
County because L. B. Rayuond, one of the pioneer editors of
the county, has recorted that the elk disappeared about 1E56
ané the last of the buffalo went two vears earlier, in 1854,
although James Reeve and “Jilliam Braden xilled an irmense
buffalo bull on the »rairie in Iaxilton Township as late as
June 1856, The huge animal was just jumning the channel of
I'ayne's Creek -<when a shot brought him dovn. The carcass
was found to be so heavy that it toox several men to get it
out of the creek., all *hrough the wvears of settlenrent,
whenever a2 strav beast was located in the mneighborhood, all
hands turned out for the hunt until the beast was shot.
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Lersrett's elk was one of these unfortunste animals who
ha¢, like certain of the Indians, strayed back into old
npastures and crossed the line into the region of settlement.
Legrett and Staley, a neighbor, were makine hay that fine
fall day when they saw the elk feeding about hzlf a nmile off.
Bach man Jjunped on a horse and carrvying »nitchforks they
started 1in Hursuit. Leggett overtook +the elk and stabbed
him with the pitchfork btut did not xill him. The elk got
away with the tines of the »itchfork lodged ir his shoulder.
But the two men still fecllowed and as the elX tried to cross
a small creek the pitchfork handle was caught between two
trees and held firmly, until ILeggett could get c¢lose enough
to catch hold of it again. 3Staley came up next with his
fork anc¢ held the strugegling elk on the other side. They
had captured the animal but they could not %ill it.

Just then a lucky thing henpnened. Another neighbor, D
l:itchell, came into sight over the hill. He had been out
after prairie chickens and still carried his shotgun.
Leggett calied to him ané he cane up very mucn excited and
said he would shoot the elk. He took ainn and fireé but
ilissed completely. e tried again with the other barrel of
the gun but again he nissed. The »dionecers called this *“buck
ague'*, when a hunter became so excited that he couldn't hold
his gun steady. Leggett joked with ILiitchell sa7ing he was
having +this trouble, and asked him to hold the piitchfork
while he shot the animal, But iiitchell would not give up
the gun. Ile was more than ever detemiined to finish the elk
even if it took all the »powder he had in his horan. Sc he
reloaded the gun &and welking up to the animal, held the
muzzel about six inches from its head and fired. This time
the elk fell dead and »rovided many meals of fresh steak for
the farmilies of the settlers.

There are many other hunting stories. Iate in the fall
of that first vear in Franklin County, Jarmes Reeve anc John
I’ayne saw a herd of about one hundred buffalo in a ravine in
Reeve township. They fired 1into thenm but without effect.
The baffaloes rnoved nortiward and the men followed, getting
a shot now and then when the herd came to a stream and were
huddled tosether at the crossing. But they could KkKill nonw
of them. They folloed on, however, although it was now
cetting dark. TFour or five miles west of Shobe's Grove they
caught up with the herd again ang ricding behind a bluff, they
crept up close to the animels, Fronm this place they got a
good shot and k¥illed two before the herd could get away. But
now it had started to snow and in the darkness they could
not get their bearings. They were lost. It was getting
colder and they had tc have shelter. There were the two
buffalo. The ren skinmed both animels and wrapding them-
selves in the hicdes, lay down ané slept until morning. BY
daylight they could see the grove and Xnew where they were.
Thevy reached home safely by noon.



CEAPTER 4
THE ORGANIZATICH OF FRANKITH COUNTY

Franklin County was created in 1851 by arn act of the
State Legislature, but it was not organized until 1855,
Until that time there were not enough scttlers in the vicin-
ity to hold an election; therefore Traaklin QCounty was
attached to Hardin and Chickasaw counties. But on isugust 5,
1855, bv an crder of the eo nty judse in Chickaszw County,
an election was heid at the home of James B. Reeve. Forty-
eirslkit mnen voted and chose the following officers; James B,
Reeve, county Jjudze, Isauc ililler, treasurer ané recordéer;
Dr. Mitchell, clerk of courts; John Popejoy, assessor; E.P
allen, surveror; :». a. Jerdan, odrosecuting sattorney; C. k.
Leggett and dones, ju Stlces of the peace; and osodomon 3Stalew
sherifif. The new county was called Franklin for Beajaain
Franxlin, statesman of Revolutiona y days

Franklin County was the fifth county west of the 1liiss-~
Pi in the third tier from the northern toundary of the
State, 1ying between the ninety-third zazndéd ninety-fourth
meridians. It contained 16 Congressional townships, each
one six niles each wav, mnlnh'vere Tinaily named Reeve, LOor-
gan, West Fork, Usceola, Ingham, Geneva, Gakland, ﬂaﬁilton,
Grant, Lee, Wisner, Richland, Scott, iLarion, noba, and i.ott.

~fter the election tire returns were sent to Bradford,
the Chickasaw County seat, and the newly elected Judge James
Reeve ancé the treasure“ Isaac 1iller nade the lcng journey
to Daveaport to fet the boolkks aand various blanks to be used
in the bopusiness of the county The Reeve home became the
first courthouse and scmetimes the fanily wad little room
left fTor thenmselves, for the settlers gatihered there for
meetings and filled every inch, it seemed, of their 4iv
cabin.

The first census was taken in the new county in 1858;
the population a2t that time was LOLnd to be 780, TFour vears
later it was 1,30¢. For some yvears the population in the
cornties farther west continued to be small., Tven Cherokee
County had only 15 peonle during the winter of 1852-63, be-
cavse of Indian scares. This shows the Jdifference 1in the
progress of settlement between middle counties of Iowa and
counties Tfarther west. Tven as late as 1880 Sioux City,
which was settled eariy, was still only a cozzmuanity of about
six thousand people. It took many years Tfor western Iowa
to catch up with the eastern nart of the 3tate. The niddle
counties had the two advantages of neariess to the 1nore
settled eastern section and of a location safely distant
fror the frontier cocunties.
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after Frankxlin had been organized, it was necessary to
locate the county seat. By this stepr the »ecnle were nearly
made the vietim of & group of s»yeculators. Listrict Jucge
Cave J. McFarland cisregardeG the petition presented by the
settlers asking men wvhonm they had chosen to be appyointed as
commsissioners. He saicé flatly: 71 avyoint Dr. ault one of
the comriissioners, and I don't care if the reople of Frank-
1ir County like it or not. &and I also azhoint M. ¥, Trua-
bull, of Butler County, and J. T. Thompsorn. of Hardin Countsyp
who voted for me, as the other two comaissioners.:

The commissioners net several times, and in spite of
rumbullts protests, decided to locate the county seat on
1QuC owned by Thomes Abel andé to call the new town Jeffer-
SOlle. rPrurbull voted for a site on »roperty owned by Job
Garner. ne Franklin County settlers did not like the cox-
missioners’ choice, for Thomas abel actuvally made his resi-
dence in Iarshall County to the south. They felt it was a
nlan to nesk%e roney at thelir expense, for any town site al-
ways Dbecomes a valuable piece of land when it 1s divided up
into lots anéd sold. The Franklin County citizens, believing
that the county seat guestion had becume an excuse for land
speculation, filed a petition asiting the comiissicners to
order a vote on the subject at the next 4pril (1l€85) elec-
tion. A condition of this petition recuireé the site for
the new town to be located on the farn of Job Garner, a
egident of the county. The petition was »roperly posted ,
sisned, and filed in Judge James B. Reeve's court.

At the A»nril election the settlers gathered to defeat
the comrissioners and the land speculators, and by their
votes declded almost uwnanimously for the Garner site. It is
said that 1in this contest th JeTfferson site received only
two votes. Thus with the help of Judge Reeve, who wanted to
see Tfair »lay, ané the untiring work of aﬂother man, . M
Trumbull, the ploneers! wishes were respected and their
rights maintzined.

Twe Franklin County men, Job Garner and George Ryan,
gave 40 acres of land, which was platbed ané solé for towa
lots regsrdless of how the comiissioners feit about it. The
sale of these lots rade the county enough money to build the
courthouse, to do the necessary work such as laying city
streets, building roads, and paving the costs of surveying
and nlatting. ©On JdJurne 2, 1l&b6, H. FP. allen, the county sur-
vevor, finished the work of plu ting the village and the
nlat was recorded. Two sons of Job Garaer helped 1in the
work of surveving., 4illen Garner workxed as chal ﬂ*“n and re-~
c-ival 34,35 for his work and also $4.50 Tor Ylnp or
setulﬁg survevor's stakes. iiatthias Garner receLved $5.57
for his work as chainman, according to county recordés, and
also hauled stones which were set up at each ccrner for
narkers. His wages for the latter job are not stated.
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S. B. Jackson, a 7young lawysr who had come west to
"Grow up with the country”, earned $4.35 as chainman and ssa
Platt, who sought to buy lard, hauled survevor'!s stakes for
$1.75. 7J/illiam Easterbrook, chaimman, received $3.12.

The name Benjamin, honoring Frankxlin, was chosen for
the new town by both Garner and Rvan, ané was used for some
time. R. F. riatt objected, however, on the ground that fhere
was alreacy another Benjamin in the State, and Julge Reeve
was induced to change the name to Earn:ton, after Hazmoton
Roads, Virginia. Piatt was ariong the first lawyers to
practice in Frankiin County and had takxen a proainent part
in its earlv developrment and organization,

Harpton, two miles east of <tThe center of the county,
surrounded by as ¥“good farming land as lies out of doors?,
was later to be connected with the rest of the world by good
roads and two railroads, but at the time ¢f the organization
of the county there was no road at 2ll and there were very
few horses or oxXen. .Jhen a settler desired to hear frmm
friends he either trudred on focot or reéde a horse all the
way to Cedar Falls for his mail, or entrusted the errand to
a neighbor who was eccing that way. Two-cent postage stamps
were taen unknown and even iviie modern envelope had not come
intoc use., The sheet of writing »naper woeuld be folded in a
certain way an@ mnade secure with sealing wax. This was then
adéressed to 1its Jestination ané the Dperscn receiving it
would often be called unon to 3avy as nigh as twenty-five
cents for the letter.

When the railroads were bullt each town soon hadé a
post office of its own with weekly delivery of nail. Later
deliveries were made seni-weeily ané finally they were riade
daily. In 18857 a post office was established at :aysville
and nmost of the mail for HDampton was obtained there. Ilater
in that vear an office at Harpton was chartered andé on De-
cer:ber 1¢ Robert ¥, Fiatt was commissioned the first post-
nmaster. In 1889 the ilazpton post office was riede a zmoney
order station.

In the winter of 1£€56-57 Franklin County had a private
school., S. . Van Tirk taught in Hswmobton in a su=ali building
on the corner of Reeve and 3econd streeis. He was a well
educated man and gave the few »unils instruction Tfor about
three rmonths. Tois was not a public school; the parents
subscribed a certain sum of money for its upkeep. In the
spring of 1857 a real schoolhouse was builit in Hampton. It
cost a 1little more +than {100 =zné was not equipped with
desks. Clara Wratt, a girl still in her teens, taught this
school. The second, a frame structure, was built the follow-
ine vear by F. 4. Dentom and T. O. Svans, and was paid for
with public funds raised by taxation as soon as the county
was comnpletely organlzed.
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The first house within the corporation of Hampton was a
log cabin erected by Job Garner in 1£€55. The town was incor-
sorated in 1871. € Tirst mayor was Willianm Rayaond.,

The first church edifice built in Hampton was the Bap-
tist Ghurch erected in 186S9. The first church organized in
the county was the Congregational in 1857, its pastor the
Reverend 7. P?. aAvery.

The first graduvate in the Hampton high schcol acted as
valedictorian and salutatorian ané composed the iihole gudent
body of the class of 186l. ke was Charles V. 7ilicox.

In after years, however, his favorite memories were of
extra-scholastic activities. Chief among these was his first
camping trip. His father gave him 15 cents for his expenses
and the father of the other boy providéed a irorse and bugzy.
They stayed away from home one whole night ané went fiskhiag.
WilcoX caught a turtle instead of a fish.

Cctavia Smith, the <TLirst Franklin Cownty teacher in
that earlier +trving season of 1854, had married E. J.
iitchell., LIong afterward, lookxing back on thoese »iloneer
days, she wrote: "I was young, not cuite seveirteen, and had
earned a 1little rioney teachineg school at one dollar and a
half per week. 1y husband...said one day before we married,
'T have twenty dollars, do you think we could comuience
nouse~Xeening?

T thourht we coulé, so we were married ané began kKesp-
ing house 2nd only used thirteen of the twenty dollars, that
included our Tfurniture, cook stove, ¢ishes and groceries.®
The stove cost $1.50, the chairs 50 cents apiece. “Jhile her
young hushand bullt a table and Dbedsteads, the bride put a
curtain around an empty neal barrel and used it for a ceanter
table to hold the faﬁlly Bible and hyrn book.

But soon the voung couple felt very rich 1indeesd. lirs.

fitchell's father gave her {3C with which to buy a cow. The

cow yvielded enough cream to crhurn ;12 worth of butter - in
four months,

Waen they had bveen aarried three years the cow 4Gied.
This, she says, was a great loss as they had ano butter to
eat or to sell. They had a pig to xill, however, and when
the pig had been slaughtered she so0ld part of the lard to
buy nerself a new calico dress. But there was only enough
lard to pay for seven yards, so the ¢ress turned out to be
rather short. One of her neighbors came in shortly after-
ward and told her it was tco short, but Lirs. i:itchell wes
not greatly troubled by this. #It will be long enough be-
fore I get another,” she said.
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She tells of how very c¢o0ld it wzs in the winter of
1856-57, that hard winter wihen the 3Jioux Indians <lmost
starved and the horrible massacre at Spirit lake took »Hlace.
There was no food anywhere except in the settlerst®' cabins.
Even the elk died on the prairies. The hungry Indians
prowled around begcing for food and finally they killec 32
white people who had settled near 3Spirit lake. Toward
spring the frightful news reached Franklin County. Two
years before people had been frightened out of their homes
by an Irdian scare, their crops destroyed and rmuch of their
livestock lost, but this time they refused to move.

Rupors reached them that Indians were coming to mas-
sacre all the neople of Iowa. Iiiany came from Fort Dodge and
farther west. Tach reported the Indians only a few hours
journey behind them and rapidly coming east. The eight
families at Oakland were asked to join those fleeing to es-
cape death, but none of them could be easily persuaded to
leave the hormes they had worked for so hard and which they
had made »leasant and comfortable. In corder to protect the
women ané children, however, they did evacuate their homes
and gathered at k:itchell's place which was turned into a
temporary fort.

Beds were made up on the floors both upstairs and down
ané the men brought guns and powder and for a week kenpt sen-
tinels at their posts day and night to guard the people
within the house. The Popejoys, who had to remain at home to
feed and care for their livestock, kept a team of horses
harnessed to a wagon ready to race toward “'Fort iiltchell? at
a moment's notice. But after days of +vigil and many sleep-
less hours of darkness, it was decided that the anticipated
Indian &attack was a false alarm, and all the families re-
turned safely to their own households.
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CHAPTER 5
DEVELOFMENT AND THE CIVIL WAR

The first white settlers often arrived before the land
hac been surveyed, anc staked off their own proverty. They
stevped off Cistances instead of .ieasuring andé thus many of
the claims were not accurately marged and some overlapped.
Junen Governnent surveyors came into the country the early
lines were corrected and every effort was nace to give the
squatter his rights. After the land had been measured, each
squatter paid the United States Government $1.25 an acre for
his land.

In 1860 the homestead law was nussed 2nd the  settler
could take up 180 acres if he liveé on it andé made certain
imnrovernents such as building a cabin, breaking a certain
nuriber of acres or fencing a given area. =Tter that the
settlier was called homesteader instead of sguvatter.

By 1€60 TFranklin Countvy was well settled, and had a
nuriber of flourishineg towns. In 1857 it had even been
crossed, although only at the extreme southeast corner, by
its first railroad, the Dubucue-Sioux City line. That year,
unfortunately, the whole country was swept by a financial
vanic. lionev was scarce, and those who had it feared to in-
vest or to alilow their funds to be used for purposes of
building and expansion.

lievertheless, by 1860, Zsmpton, the Tranklin County

seat, was a *“bvustling burg, of 2007 with two general stores,

a printing office and a flour mill. A newspaper, the

FPranklin Record, established liarch 28, 1€539 by Thomas Drum-

monG, advertised the recpening and refitting of a hotel -

Hampton's first hostelry. It was a story-anc-a-helf frame
building, sut up in the spring of 1857 by John L. Boyles .

The advertisement read: “*The subscriber invites »ublic

attemtion to this establishment waich he had lately reopened
anG refitted, and 1intends to keep as nearly as possible up
to the handle. Ile will use his best endeavor to make his

house a pleasant spot by the wayside, and solicits the pat-
ronage of all hungry, starved souls, promising them that

they shall have the best that can be procured in this region.
He »professes to be a xXnight of the ribbons, and accordingly
takes the best »nossible care of the 'nags' -- having the

largest and best stable in Franklin County and *ostler who
knows how to 'édo the thing up brown'". The wording of this
notice to the public shows the s»irit of optimism and enter-
prise shared by many of the early business men and settlers
in Franklin County.




During the period from 1854 to 1860 the pioneers had
suffered many hardstips -- the inconvenience of living in
primitive log cabins on the »rairie, the recurring fear of
attacks by Indians, and éuring the 1long winter mnmonths, the
constant fight against bitter cold weather. In January 1857
a iI:rs. Ryan was frozen to death near the Haecker place in
Mott “Township., She anéd her husband had been visiting
friends one evening; when they started home the wind was
blowing heavily and there was a thick snowfall. The couple
lost the path and wandered helplessly throush the storm.
Finally i:rs. Ryan sank exhausted on the bank of a little
hill -- she could walk no farther. Her husband turned back
to hunt for help, but it was daylight bvefore he returned
with several would-be rescuers, only to find Lirs. Ryan still
seated on the hillock, frozen to death.

There were other accidental and natural deaths in the
county, too -- of children, ©l& peovle, and persons of vari-
ous ages. But, since even during difficult times, life can-
not be all sorrow, as a counter-balance there were many gcood
times -- ‘house raisin's® -~ when the settlers met to help
put up new log houses and celebrate their occupancy --
weddings, and comaunity religious and educational gatherings.

The first wedding to take place in the county -- that
of Jares lartin and IlTancy Garner -- was solemnmized in the
surimer of 1856 at the home of Abe Bacon 1in Ctisville. The
bride and bridesmaid hadé to ascend to the "loft® and dress
by the light of a slut? lamp, made of a hollowed-out turnip
filled with hog grease and 1it with a cloth wick. The
bricegroom had to nut on his best suit’? within the shelter
of the corncrib.

A typical weddéing celebration of a few years later when
living conditions had become relatively comfortable, was
that of R. E. Train, teacher of the first school at 0Otis-
ville in 1856, and superintendent of a Sabbath School or-
ganized in 1860, to Huldah Jane liorgan. This was an event
of 1€61., The Bible class leader, E. A. Eowland, a wediing
guest, was warned by the bride's nother not to ")hlague™ the
girl and thus annoy the bridegroom. IHowland, dressed up 1in
a borrowed suit, éid not <feel at home in his temporary
finery, but forgot his own enbarrassment in helping dispel
the confusion of Train and of Squire Jebediah from Oakland
who was officiating. Howland was compelled to interrupt the
ceremony when it was about half through to change the posi-
tion of the bride and groom, “as I did not want them married
left-handed.*

After the ceremony there was a basket lunch and then
the guests enjoyed »playing the game of '"Copenhagen®. In
this game a ring was formed with rope. Each player held his
hands on the rope and there were one or two inside. If the
nersons inside the ring could strike the hand of one of the
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opposite sex outside, it was their »rivilegse to kiss the
latter vefore he or she could alsc dodge insice. This game
brought forth rch laughter and teasing and was considered
great fun by the crowd. Just imagine the grown-ups of today
induleing in such sport!

While this game was being nlayed at the Train wedding
festivities, Howland thought up what he considered a capi-
tal Joke. .rmong the »layers were John I. Popejoy, the
cattle king”, who on his arrival in Franklin County in 1&€54
had acquired 286 acres of land. There was also a lirs .
Walters, who cuickly called Popejoy's attention to his horse
tied up in the yvard,and then took advantage of his momentary
distraction to strike him a sound blow on the hand. Popejoy
was so astonished +that she had Kissed him before he could
recover enough to dodge insice the rope. afterward Popejoy
declared that this cured him of the habit of smoking for two
years. . . Thus the pioneers anused themselves. Taere was
always laughter on the frontier,

But soon the normal life of the settlers was saddened
by the Civil War -- that great war fought between the Ijorth
and the South of our own U.ited States. Iien mad to leave
their shops and »lowshares +to fight and %Xill their own
countrymen. In TFranklin County, as well as all over Iowa,
the building of roads ané railroads was halted or postponed,
as was the construction of new mills and bridges, stores and
homes. |

The names of 130 soldiers from Fraakxiin County are
listed in the records of the Civil Wir. Fortys-five of the
mer died in the service of their country. aong these was
James B. Rseve, captain of Company E, 32nd Iowa I.fantry who
was killed Junuary 24, 1863, and his son Ferrnendo, who died
Sentember 21, 1€84. Elias iloon was takern prisoner and died
of starvation at atlanta, Georgia, while one of the last
battles between the Ilorth andéd the South raged outside the
citvy walls. |

Franklin County was represented first in the 6th
Volunteer Infantrv, and in comnanies of other regiments.,
Besides the 130 1listed +there were 100 men in the 44th
Iafantry, some in the cavalry <forces, and a number in the
worthern Borcer Brigade.

i 9-year-old egirl's impressions of the war's beginning,
printed in the Franklin Recorder in 1€92 gives a vivid pic-
ture of the times; #I well renember the norning the news
carie that war had broken out. 1iy father was standing at the
sate waiting for the mail carrier to deliver the paper, when
he rode up excitedly and said, 'They have fired on Tort
Suripter'. Tien xmy father raised his hat solemnly 'and now soO
help us in heaven we will free the slaves'", The child stood

we-stricken watching her Tather in his blue uniform the
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morzine he was toc leave., 3khe woncered if it couléd be nossi-
ble that bullets woul¢ hit him. “But we heard the beat of
the drums andé Xnew that Co. Be was marching down the street
anéd that his time with us was short. T..ey halted at the
gate and with hurried embraces to nother and the little omnes,
he took me Dby the hand and led me to the gate with hinm...
Ciimbine the fence, I comnenced to wave my 1little flzag and
sing at the ton of my voice 'Tie Union Torever' and the
comxpany joined in anéd when they passed out of sight I could
still hear their voices as back from the hills came the
words, 'The Union FOrever'". Alas, that father never re-
turned home alive, but losing his life as an after-effect of
the strain of helping a wounded comrade, was brought back
the following yvear in a flag-draped coffin.

a more cheerful storvy was that of Janes “{heeler
ticilenzie, who fought with the Army of the Tennessee,
iicXenzie was conspicuous for his bravery under fire during
an attack of the enemy on altoonaz, Georgia, Cctober 5, 18864.
General Sheriman's signral corps had been trying to send dis-
patches from Xenesaw to General Corse. The r:essages were
read but unanswered vecause of a thick hail of eueany bullets.
General Corse sought Lieutenant iiclenzie, teanorarily in
ckharge of a signed company, and dCeclared he had to get word
through to General Sherman, who hed just wig-wagged, "Hold
the fort for I am coring.”" Corse wrote out and handed
i.ciZlenzie the followving isessage (or so it was reported in the
Franizlin Recorder for January 18, 1€82):"Te Gen. Sherman: I
ari short a cheek bone and one ear, but can whip hell out of
them yet. General Corse.'

licKenzie tookx the message aad the signal flag and
called for a volunteer. o cne responded...’’It seemncd like
certain death to anvone to undertake it. &t this moment of
hesitation, the General seeing no man going forward said to
me firmly, -“*Lieutenant, I thought 7ou said +this message
couléd be sent?' I replied, ‘It can,' and without further-
delay I rnounted the signal station ané cormenced sencing the
nessage expecting every =moment to be shot. The flag was
about eighteen feet long, and the wind was blowing some, and
I found it verv hard work, and felt as though I miust give
out before I was done. At this aoment, when it seemed T
could stané it no longer, a stranger, not a member o¢f the
signal corps, came up behind me, put his arms arcund ne,
took hold of the flag staff, and standing behind me, helped
rne to wave the answer back to Sherman.®

lic¥enzie died at Hampton in 1€82, OCn June 16 of that
year,l14 conrades of the Grand Army of the Republic organized
the J. %. llcKenzie Post, named 1in his honor. The G. A. R.
regulations provided that each Post should bear the name of
a dead comrade. Capt. Rufus S. Benscen was the first com-
mancer.
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Sone years later the taxpavers voted to build ilemorial
Eall for the use of the former soldiers. The Eaapton city
council donated a let, and the building was dedicated augrust
27, 1590.

A marble tablet Dbearing the names of all soldiers who
enlisted from Franklin County and were kXilled in battle, or
died of wounds or disease, was dlaced on the walls of the
Memorial Hall, as other veterans, citizens of the county,
began to die, the ‘ilomen's Relief Corps sponsored a second
tablet to carry the names of former soldiers who had net
death since the Civil iar. It was placed cn the wall in the
spring of 1895. .t that time the Post had 100 members.

Gradually, as the vears went by and the survivors of
the Civil jar Dbecame Tewer and fewer, the Tost activities
were carried on with +the assistance of veterans of the
Spanish Anmericen and “jorlé wars. The last local surviver of
the Civil ‘Jar, Levi Lvyons Coaner, died September 27, 1¢37 at
the age of 91.

The Tirst G. A. R. Post in Franklin County was organiz-
ed in December 1836 when a few veterans 1living in Reeve
Township met at the schoolhcuse at the east end of iayne's
Grove. Col. is. T, Reeve assisted at the neeting and at
following gatherings, but no recordés remain. The following
besides Colonel Reeve are xnovn to have narticipated: Cap-
tain Clock, O0. G. Reeve, Capt. A. B. Buéson, G. ii. Soper,
I.. B. Ravmond, R. 3. Beanson, J. S. Burd, L. P. iiurlin, James
. Beed, L. P. Berry, J. s. Franzlin, D. li. Van Hoen, J. D.
iiaecker, . Y. nshley, J. . Plant, and J. {. Lamber. These
nen constituted the charter merbers of the encampaent of the
G. A. R. known as Pcst lio. 115, District 11, of the Depart-
ment of Iowa. L. B. Ramond was authorized to muster in the
rost at the courthouse July 5 and July 9, 1867.

The meetings were not held for very long. 3Both the men
and their families wanted to forget the war. It had ended
with victory and Jjustice, but now people wanted to experience
progress in ordinary normal life. They wished to farm their
land, build enduring homes ané towns, and cshare 1in the
future benefits of civilization.
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CHAPTER ©
RATTIROADS IN FRAMILIN COUNTY

"Fizzel, fizzel, squeak, ding, dong, rumble, rumble,
hurry, skurry, puffing and rolling onward and westward
through forests, over »rairies" and across creeks and rivers.
That is how the first railroad +trains came into Iowa. But
before they could come rolling in, bridges had to be built,
road beds graded up, hills cut down and filied in, and last
the steel track and high +trestles khad to be built. A great
deal of timber had to be cut down also and hewed square to
make the ties. Fences had to be built to Keep 1livestock
off the +tracks and towns and stations kad to be 2aid .out
along the way. =aAll this preliminary work took a liong time
and a great deal of money. Crews of men were hirsd to build
the lines aeross the state and every day the ncise of these
worknmen &riving the huge stecl spikes couléd be heard along
the new tracks.

There were two ways for the railroad companies to get
money to builé the roads. One was to lay out new towns and
sell bullding lots to merchants and householders who would
settle there, the other was to seil the frec lanéd given by
the United States Government to encourage the bulilding of
the roads. This gift of 1lanéd wes made up of every other
section for ten miles on each side of the tracks. Some ren
have judged that about one-ninth of the land in the state
was given to the zrailroads in this way. And as this rail-
road lanéd lav close to the railroad centers it could be scld
for a higher orics per acre than the $1.25 an acrs which was
paid to the Government for it. In spite ¢f the great anmount
which had to be done then, there was money to do it with and
as early as 1857 there were four rarallel railrcad l1inss
builéing toward the west,

The line which lay farthest north was the one which cut
across the scuthecaster part of the county. This was the
Dubugque and Sioux City Railrocad which was to pass tuarough
Fort Dodge and afterward became nart of the Illincis Cen-
tral. But due to the panic of 1857 work soon stopped on all
lines and was not started again until after the Civil War.

During these years whilc the settlsrs waited eagerly
for the coming of the railroads, stagecoachis.” carried mail
and passengers across the state and from town to town. Sofu-
times men went on snowshoes with the mail, but somehow it
was delivered. Twice a weck by way of JAlgona mail was
carried from Fort Dodge to llankato, liinnesota, and there was
a weekly service from Cedar Falls to Hampton and from llewton
to Fort Dodge.
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The first railrvad to reack Hamrton was built from
south to north and was called the JIowa Central Railway,
later the iliinneapolis and St. Iouis. This line was built by
the ElCora Railroad ané Coal Company, first from Eldora to
Ackley in 1€67-62 and from there to Ha~pton in 18%0C.

It was alaost the Fourth of July, June 28, 1€70 to be
exact, when ILanpton held its railroad jubilee. 4 great cel-
ebration had teen nlamned and all was excitement. Flags and
bunting were everywhere and chilidren carried Tfirecrackers
and s:211 red tissue-wradped torredoes in their hands as
they came cown to the tracks to watceh for the new train.
The town was filled with a gala crowd and =211 the hitching
posts were taken up by the long lines of teams and saddle
horses tied alons the streets. alnost everrvone in the coun-
ty had come tc town with »nicric beskets packed and swmiles on
their faces. Holidav clothes and holiday szirits were in
evidence. The band was waiting near the road wvnlaying fre-
quent bursts of music and the »neople stood in little groups
along the tracks jokXinz and lauching as thev waited.

about roon it came, ané what a sight it was. There was
a long hoarse whistle and then the locomotive came puffing
up tine track with fifteen or sixteen flat cars, loaced to
the stakes with excursionists enjoying their first railrcad
ride. Laci flat car bristled with green bushes stuck along
the sides to provide shade frow the hot June sun. The mul-
titude on the flat cars cheered and the veorle of Hampton
sl:outed back greetings, as tihe band »nlayed ferociocusly and
the train pvanted to a stop.

The two groaps, visitors and home folks, then came to-
gether in a roaring crowd which streamed off slowly toward
the grounds where the celebration was to be held. The sun-
light flashed from bunting and flags and at the head of the
varade rode the Marshal of Hampton mounted on a splendid
norse carefully sroomed for the occasion.

When evervone had reached the grounds they ate their
picnic lunches. 4ll -vere gar and everyone talked about the
railrcad. The speaker of the day was Tom kicKenzie. Perhaps
he was one of the licXenzies who settled in Richland gownship
in 1€8E. There was Roderic licilenzie Wwho bought out John
Shobe near Shove's Grove ané for whom the Lici{enzie School
House and the 1licilenzie church +were named. Then there were
James and John liclenzie who were both active in the Civil
War. At least it was Tom I.cKenzie who spoke and who read
both the Declaration of Indepmendence and the Enpancipation
Proclamation, as well as he could with "the constant popping
of firecrackers® around and above the speakers'! platform.
But the noise was glorious. It was all a part of this day
which celebrated the Fourth as well as the new railroad.



But while this gay time was being enjoyed at Hampton,
in another part of the same county sadness and discourage-
ment prevailed. For just six miles to the south lay the
town of Mhaysville and this town had been skipped entirely
by the railroad - a body blow from which it could never re-
cover. Maysville had been an ambitious and active town up
to this time. Its citizens had made strenuous efforts from
the first to get the county seat located there, and later on
to get the railroad. Only a2 short time before sameone had
predicted Miaysville will have a railroad before Hazpton
after all the fuss” and"consequently the county seat will be
eventually removed +to this place. The site of the court-
house will be fixed upon soon.? But in spite of this optim-
istic statement and in spite of the fact that Dr. kiitchell
had a steanm sawmill at laysville and tried hard to get the
judgeship for himself away from James B; Reeve and the coun-
ty seat for his town, it was not to be. The railrocad was
built leaving llaysville outside. And so the thriving little
village on the stage line between Ackley and Hampton became
a dv7ing town and when the last person hadé mnoved away, a
ghost town. One building only was left standing in 1940 to
narkX the place -- the 0ld stone schoolhouse -- a two-story
building still so0lid and still used -- situated near the
highway within sight of layne's Grove. This building,
erected sonetime shortly before 1870, was at that time the
best schoolhouse in Franklin County.

In 1876 another railroed passed through Hampton. This
was an east-and-west line mown &s the Chicago Great ifestern
and there was no celebration to mnark the event, but there
was great joy for the people needed this road to reach the
Chicago markets with their grain and livestock.

In 1881 +the third road was built through Hampton--an-
other north-south road--the Burlington, Cedar Rapids and
iorthern. This 1line, entering the county at ILee Township
and vassing through Dows and Popejoy as well as Hampton, be-
came part of the Rock Island system. The stream-lined
Rocket train was later to thunder over this same road giving
its long cry of warning outside of each city; its modern
siren, frightening in its intensity, matched the awe-insplir-
ing speed of the new steel horse skimming steel-shod over
the nrairies,
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CRarTIR 7
BZED'S LATE

A blue lake where once -jas forty acres of corn -- a
mill pond where once was wilderness - that in »~art is the
peculiar history of the Beed's lake area. nere is a bvlue
lake circled with growing treecs, winGing foot paths andg pic-
nic places, with a wide and sunny beach on the south shore
and Tishing boats +tied up along the vld d&ike which exteuds
cut 1into the water, forzing a dock or pier - the lake of
Beed's Lake State Park. Twenty years earlier this 1land had
been a cornfield. Seventy years before that it had been a
mill pond, and before that, a spot in the wilderness through
which ran the clear, cecovl waters of 3Spring Creek.

Ilet us begin atv the time the first settler came into
the vezlle7” of Spring Creek. Ee was a Campbelliite preacher
who was also a business man looking for just the right spot
to start & new industry. 3hen he founé this natural valley,
and the creek flowiing between steep hills, he stopped. Ee
explored the stream and found that it was twelve or fourteen
miles in length, that it seldon or never ran ary, for it was
fed by numerous cold water springs which flowed continously
during both sumier and winter. HIe exanined the limestone
rock which faced the slopes of the hiils on the north and
south and decided that here a dan could be built across the
stream. .as this was a good place for settlement, it was
also a guod vlace for a mill., The name of the preacher was
T. L. dansverry and the tinme was 1854,

After he Lhad made his plans Hansberry lost no time in
retting to work. First he secured the water rights from
Davia IMatthews and then started the builcding of the dam. The
dike when finished was about &C rods long and 1C feet high.
It wes nade criefly of rravel from nearby eravel pits and
tne black earth of the top soil, with field stones and rock
to give it added streagith. The nill race or channel was
built next anéd extendsd toward the ezst for nearly one-half
mile before it coanected with the 2111 proper wiere the ma-
chinery was to be set-up. The strea:z of water d&irected
tarough this nmill race wes to furnish the —2ower to turn the
wheels of the =ill.

The first mill set-up was a sawmill, for everyone need-
ed lumber for new homes and. there were plenty of trees grow-
ing close by on the hills. BRBesides that, iiansberry mnceded
lumber himself to Dbulild the outside structure of the grist-
mill he had planansd. So the sawailll was set-up immediately
and in a short time rafters and siding and shingles were
being turned cut for new cabins anéd the new mill,
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The foundation was 1laid carefully of limestone blocks
cut from the hillside znd on this the framework was built
and at last the mnmill itself. It was a two-story structure
and looked very tall and very innosing to those early set-
tlers who came hurrying up the creex to take a look, or to
lend a hand with the work. The sunlight shown down on newly
cut oak shineles and shining new walls as the pond gradually
filled and water began to trickle through the new spillway.
Jorxmen hurrving, bent their backs to the installing of the
millstones., IZverywhere was activity, evervwhere was ex-
citement. It was a woncderful +thing to have a mill in ~tie
county.

“hen the mill at last opened, farmers came from nmiles
arouné with treir grain to be ground. The great ‘zatzr hesl
outside began to turn and the mnill-wheels turned and soon
the first sack of flour was ready to be carried away. It
was a great dav. Everyone joked and shouted, you had to
shout to be heard above the mighty noise of the nill-wheels,
rarmers went home with light nearts +that evening in 1859,
proud that there was a 2ill in their own county.

The millstones were very heavy and it was nard to haul
them across country for the early nills. Some were made in
Georgia but the best ones hadé to be brought across the At-
lantic ocean from France. Eacihr stone was grooved on the
inner surface and the two were »nliaced together on a s»indle.
The lower stone was stationary and the vupper stone was
turned by the meachinery of the mill. The grain to be ground
was poured into a hopper and sassed down through an opening
in the center of the upper stone and was crushed as the
stone revolved. The flour was cauvght in a wcoden trough as
it sifted down from the millstones and was then sifted or
bolted to rernove the bran. Cne-half bushel of wheat made
about twenty pounds of flour, eight pounds of middlings, and
three pounds of bran. 4 special Kind of cloth called bolt-
ing cloth was used for sifting the flour. In 1843 the smount
paid to the niller was set by law at about an eighth part.

By 1861 Eansberry founc that he had more than he could
do in cearing for the mil1ll and acting as one of the first
preachers in the region, so his brother-in-law John licDonald
came from Marietta, Ohio, to take charge. But even after
that, running the mlll reriained a big problem and was not
always nrofitable. During the winter season the water in
the mnillrace would freeze solid and the mill could not be
worlzed. In 8pring, floods came to wash away the dam and re-
pairs were constantly being rmade. Then in the sumer d4ry
spell the water would get so low that it would not turn the
wheels and again the mill had to close., This went on until
in Movember, 1864, McDcrald and E=zasberry sold the mill and
water rights to Alliam Beed of Hampton for 6,500,
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Mr. Beed immediately began improving the mill and dike.
He raised the dike anothecr ten feet so that nore water could
be stored and hence more nower gained. Next he went to work
on the mnill race which he considered too narrow and too
shallow, and without sufficient fall to keep the water flow-
ing fast enough to prevent its freezing. He started the new
channel at a point ten feet higher than that of the o0ld one
to give 1t the necessary fall and to make it deeper and
wider. The workx was corpleted in 1872.

From that time on, Beed Xept making improvements. He
enlarged the criginal building maiing it four times as large
with a third story for extra storage room. He also built a
lean-to facing west to cover the scales and to make it
easier to unlcad the grain and load the flour in bad weather.
e bought millstones made in Trance so that he might have
the very best in eguipument in order to turan out the very
best flour.

In 1882 he made another change. This time a 1roller
system was installed, ecuipped with burrs and rollers. This
increased the speed of grinding so that by 1883 the mill had
a capacity of 150 barrels of flour a day and eight men were
employed to run the machinery. an elevator and warehouse
were built near at hand and the nill became xnown as the
FrankXlin Roller kiills., For forty yvears this mill was an im-
portant factor in the growth of Hampton and the development
of settlement in the county.

viilliam Beed was always progressive and sought to build
up the cormunity. “'hen he noticed that the <farwmers of the
county had stopped raising wheat and that all the wheat for
the mill was being shipped in, he tried t0 encourage the
raising of nore wheat. He sent to South Dakota for a car-
load of their finest seed wheat and offered to sell it to
the farmers at cost. But the farmers did not want to raise
wheat and only about half of it was sold. Fraaxlin County
had become a corn country as had nmost of Iowa. Gradually
vear by year the flour nills of JTowa closed z2nd finally the
Frankxlin Roller 17ills closed also. The great fliour mills
had been located in other states, where wheat was a stronger
crop. Cats continued, however, because oats follows corn in
the crop rotation =and because oats was necessary food for
horses. Perhaps because of this the zreatest oatmeal mills
in the world came to be located in Iowa at Cedar Rapids.

After the mill c¢losed the mill noné remeined for many
years and was used as a pnicnic place znd vacation spot. Here
families gathered on Sundays to rest and fish and young peo-
ple came to enjoy picnics and boating. Oney TI'red Sweet,
formerly of Hampton, remembers an early day cuartet of young
men's voices, singing from a boat under a skining moon which
®hung low over Beed's pond.” The four mnen, Derwin Peck,
Dick Webb, Roscoe Palmer, and Charlie Csborne sang "ay Out



Yonder in the Cornfields" while the froess kept their accon-
paniment and their vouthful audience appleauded frorn the
shore,

J. B. Merning, whose father built just west of the =ill
in 1870, recalls the rude shelter the Menning family put up
the first winter. It was a dug-out made in the steen banks
of Spring Creek. The scuth side and the roof were nade of
boards and on the south wall was one window and a door. 3od
was plowed up and cut into lengths to build the other walls
of the shelter. The north side especially was made thick-
walled and tight. This dug-out when finished was aboutls
X 16 feet.

The first winter the snow fell until there were snow-
banks ten or twelve feet deep. The dovor of the duvug-out was
buried in snow and a hole had to be dug through to the out-
side before the Mennings could get out. 4t night, wolves
trotted over +the snow and often they would pass directly
over the roof of the dug-out. Inside, the ilenning family
would hear them howling across the snow and the children
would gather close around their mother and sonieone would
throw more wood 1in the fire to make a high, cheerful blaze
to light up the darXened cabin so they could forget tkeir
fear of the wolves,

But in the spring 2ll was pleasant again. wWild ducks
and geese came chattering in from the south to alight on the
pond. You could shoot wild mallard ané teal or go fishing
almost in the front vard, for the creek ran by just below
the house. Red-winged Dblackbirds came in hosts to build
their nests in the tall cattails and rushes near the pond.

In the days before Beed's lake was drained,and when the
0ld mill-wheel was still turning there vere so nany nusxrats
that William Beed offered a bounty of 10 cents for the tail
of each one killed in or about the lakxe. The little animals
caused so much damage that Beed was also glad to furnish a
boat to boys for hunting »nurposes. One Cctober day taree
boys set forth in the boat and had an adventure recalled by
D. J/. Parks in the Franklin County Recorder for Octcber 6,
1¢26.

As the boat glided over the snmooth water, one of the
boys happened to look up. Coming out of the north at a very
high altitude was a floek of sometiiing waich in a later day
might have been taken for airplanes. After they had cone
nearer, one of the boys said, “"They are ceesel"

AS the saerial group moved into plain view the boys
thought they nust be Canadian geese, because they were so
unfamiliarly large, “With & loud smack that sprayed the
water for 20 feet in every direction they lit on the surface
a few hundred yards away. When they were settled and

31



stretched out their long necks it was concluded by all pres-
ent that they were swans, just like we all had seen in the
plcture books.¥

The boys started rowing toward +the birds, but *'the
swans', three in nurber, naid little attention and the row-
ing continued until the party was within fair shooting dis-
tance, when they arose.”™ The voung hunters fired andé shot
the three birds, one by one.

They eagerly took their “swans® home and were sur-
prised to learn that they were really pelicans, the only
ones ever seen in Franxlin County. The largest measured €
3/4 feet from tip to tip, ang had a pouch that one could
easily put a foot into."

The llenning fanily built their new home the next sum-
mer, At that time J. li. lienning was about twelve years old.
For many vears he continued to live near the mill, helping
Beed to rebuild the dam, improve the mill and keep it run-
ning through the years, He later stated that flour ground
at the mill was eraded in this order: first grade, White
Lily; seconé grade, “Jhite Rose; third grade, 4-1; fourth
grate, Bar-X. Various feeds, such as c¢racked corn, were
also ground at the mill.

In 1¢00 the first telephone was installed at the mill,
Four years later the mill was closed. William Beed died in
Des Moines, Iowa, January 1, 1912.

after the closing of the nill flooés continued to wash
against the dam and when a »ortion was destroyed it was not
rebuilt so the dike got lower and lower and the pond smaller
and smaller until the picnickers and even the fishermen de-
serted the place. The 014 mill building was torn down and
the lumber carried away. Finelly, in 1917, Iienry Paullus
bought the »place and decided to drain the pond ané slough,
which covered uearly fortv acres, so he could grow corn on
it.

When the people of Hampton heard that the pond was to
be drained many were sorry to see the old landmark go and,
according to a story in the Hampton Chronicle, hundreds went
out on the dav set for the draining to take a last look at
the historic body of water which had bsen there ever since
the ccunty was first settled and which held so many pleasant
associations for them. Sorie of them came to fish also, for
there were many fisk still left in the »ond. The larcest
of these were the cerp, suame of them weighing as much &8s
twvelve »nounds., These large <fish were allowed to go down
strean into Spring Creek eand here 2en were already station-
ed, stancding on rafts, and waiting for them. They c¢.rricd
pitchforks to spear the fish and in this manner could take a
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large number in a short time. Two men landéed 240 pounds of
carn that =mornine. It was ovember 10 but the weather must
still have Dbeen cuite warm as the story in the Chronicle
states that the mud was six feet deep and the fishermen usedq
rafts 1in order to Xeep out of it. according to other
accounts of the day, many farilies brought picnic baskets,
held fisk fries and watched the Hrogress of the work as the
water was graaually dGrained away from the big »ond,

Thus it was that the old mill site became a cornfielqd,
lost among the nillions of otker cornfields of Iowa. Butb
the dlace and its story were not forgotten. Just nine years
later, in the fall of 1626, »lans were again astir for a
county »roject to refiood the 0ld lake bed and bring the
fish and gane backx to Fraaklin County. An Isazc¢c Valton
League chapter was organized in iampton and plans were drav
up for the new dike wkhich wouwld kave +to be built. liax
Hickethier, county enginecr, made a survey of the vicinity
where the new dam would be built and estimated the cost with
improverients necessary at about $40,000. On October 24, 1926,
a large Dbooster neeting was held at the Coonley Hotel and
abovt one hunéred sportsmen were on hand to ap-orove the plan
before it was »resented. The neople were to vote at the reg-
ular general election liovenber 4, on the »roposition that
provided for a tax levy to raise the 345,000 necessary to
rebuild the laXe. Frank Ricdgeway, Judge S. a. Clock, Lrs.
Francis Whitely of ‘ebster City, Senator C. P. Johnson of
Sheffield, David Zvans of liason City, and D.V. Parks, chair-
man of the new Isazac ‘/alton Chapter, attended the meeting
and heartily anproved the plan which would bring not only a
recreational center but a wild 1life refuge to Franklin
County. But in Hovember voters in nineteen precincts failed
to back the venture. Many »people who lived 1in the county
but outside of the Beed's lake area, did not favor the 1levy
of the county. After that, the »lan was laid aside for six
more years. Iven the TIsaac Waltonians allowed their new
organization to lapse,

In 1233 a new plan was cevised, and this time it was
decided to get 3State aid btefore the »roject could be
successful. The Isaac Walton League was revived and a neet-
ing called. & committee of three, Dr. . H.Johmnston,
wWwayne Ferris and Dr. J. C. Powers, was appointed to work out
a plan for the restoration of the lake. It was not an easy
task that confronted these men. At last, after many months
of debate, telephone calls, trips, and earnest conversation,
the members of the State Cunservation Commission agreed to
help the project if the land for the new lake were deeded to
the Commission free and clear of all encumbrances.

The commiittee's next sten was to buy the iand but there
was no nmoney with which to pay for it. So they went out
first to see how much it would cost. Ienry Paullus owned
most of it and he agreed +to sell at the regular market
price, which was not high at that time. The other land own-
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ers azreed to sell theirs in the same way. To Tfinance the
purchase of this lang, anproximately 254 acres, the committee
went next to the council board of the city of Ha=mpton. This
board, tegether with c¢ity park commissioners, anoroved of
the »nlan for the lake and the c¢ity council offered to issue
$&,000 worth of bonds. '

The money from the sale of these bonds, together with
money which would be received by the Isasac Walton league,
from the sale £ building lots along the shors 1line of the
nronosed lake, was thought sufficient +to »nurchase the 1land
necessary for the project. The city cof Hampton wished to
retain title to two acres of land on the northwest side of
the lake for a city park. This »ark together with the larg-
er parx and picnic areas maintained by the State would pro-
vide an inviting resort for visitors ané residents of Eamp-
ton.

The lots platted off by lLeague members were 63 in num-
ber and were located along the northern shore, 300 feet back
from the shore line. The State of Iowa was to have title to
the lake bed and all the land within 300 feet of the shore
together with sites on the east, west and south shores to be
used for picnic areas and for a wild game refuge and bird
sanctuary.

The Hampton Post of the american Legion agreed to buy
eight 1lots, these lots to be adjaceat to each other and as
near to the city park as nossible. all lots were sold for
$125 each and it was not long before the League had money
enough to buy the land for the new lake, The Hampton Rotary
Club donated $150 also. The State Conservation Commission
nlanned to reforest the entire ake shore. The lake was to
be about a mile and a quarter in Iength from east to west
ané one-cuarter to one-half mile in width. The water was to
be about forty feet deep nearest to the dam. The dam was to
be erected just northwest of the old mill site, extending
between two limestone hills that border Spring Creekx. Six-
teen more acres were vpnurchased by the State from August
Varrelman on the east, to be made intc a fish hatchery and
nursery pond, creating a total »nark area of 270.53 acres.

In the iieantime something was hanpening in the entire
Mation which no one could kave foreseen but which &ad a
direct and irmediate effect on the 3Beed's lake project. It
was 1634 and drouth had struck the land. Drouth on the
prairies was serious. Cornfields withered under the intense
heat and creeXs, s»Prings and sloughs daried wup rapidly.
Farmers had +to haul water from dwindling rivers for their
stock. wlien food and water gave out animsls were sold or
shot in the fields. The great plains of the west Dbecane
znown as the "Dust Bowl® and many farmers had to leave their
land and go 8lsewhere., In the iiiddle Jest, dust storus be-
came as common as thunder storms had been before. Even in
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the early days of spring there was no rain ané the sunlight
looked cold ané white as it fell over ruvof tops and porches.
Clouds of dust were carriedé by the western winds and ag
night shrouded the lampposts of Chicago, Zhiladelphia ,
finally even I'ew York. The soil which had been so productive
in the early vyears was now blowing away. Something had to
be done, before the grasslands which had been plowed up
should become a barren desert.

It was at this critical neriod thet the Federal Govern-
iient began the orgenization of a vast program for érouth re-
lief, and a —mart of this program was the formation of the
Civilian Conservation Corps made up of unemnloved voung men.
The Frarklin County Fair Boarc »nrovided land for a CCC Canp
site for the men who would worgk on the Beed's I1aXke project,
and a new campany, 271% crgarized July 4, 134, was install-
e¢ there,

iTow there was three agencies at work on the same prob-
lem: the Tederal Governmaent, represcnted by the Civilian
Conservation Corns, the State Government, represented dy the
State Conservation Corizission, and Franklin County and the
city of hampton, represented by the new chapdpter of the Isaac
Wwalton League., It is not surprisiag that with so zuch co-
operation the lake and parx turned out to be nore extensive
than it had been planned at first.

The new lake covered 110 &cres, and the entire park
about 170 acres. The dam was bullt acruss a natural gorge
which almost enclosed the valley. The s»illway cof this new
dam was 170 feet long and about 34 feet high. This made the
water about 35 feet deep on the east side bLecause of the de-
pression of the stream bed. The abutments and s»>illway were
anchored far bereath the surface in bedrock and could not
be washed awavy by any flood. They were oullt to take care
of a large overflow ané could handle a fiooé created by the
drainage from 32 scuare miles of tributary watershed.

Railings were built along the high banks of the dam and
lake on the north and south sides, anéd water constaatly
flowine over the s»nillway was guided tkrouskh the fish hatch-
ervy east of the dan.

The 0ld dike built by Haaskterry and Beed was left just
as it had been with the excention of scme reinforcing,
acconplished by ri»rapping alons the skhores with field
stones. About midway from the new dike to the old, along
the south shcre, a small bay was exXcavated where beats could
be broucht in to the shore and docked. &11 of the lake
bottom was leveled anéd dangerous stunps were remsoved. The
deepest =mrt of the lake, known as the dJdanger area, proved
to be along the north shore.
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The swirmming beach was placed on the south shore, vhich
sloped very gradually toward the west and north, with =no
cdangerous drop-off for swinmers. fflagstore steps 1led up
from the beach to the bathhouse or lodge, which was built
very large, measuring about €3 feet long ané 28 feet wide.
Leading up to the lodge an autonobile drive was built and to
one side on a zgentle slope the picnic ares was laid out.
Tables and benches, coovking ovens, water ané scuage improve-
mnents were nade and trees planted 211 around the lake to
give beauty to the scene and »rovide pleasant shade for
picnickers.

The Terris nursery donated aany of the hundreés of
trees planted. Among the trees arnd bushes started in this
reforested area were arrowwood, snowberry, Russian Clive,
river birch, white birch, pin o0ak, sugar marple, mannyberry,
wahoo, honey locust, black walnut, white ash, wild plum, red
oak, rmaple, red dogwood, wild rose, sumac, elder, hawthorne,
wild crab, blacik locust, hazel brush, Colorado s»ruce, white
pine, ponderosa pine, Scotch »ine, =:l:ite 33riuce, Lar-ay
spruce, Anerican elm, catalpa, cattails, rouné and giant
bullrushes, and Carolina »noplar.

A continuous Tfootpath about three and one-thirc miles
long was laid out, windine through the trees around the lzke
shore. A woven wire fence was bullt to enclose the park and
to keep out livestock. There are three entrance gates lead-
ing into the nark. This area as a whole was intended for a
gane refuge but the west end of the 0ld lake had been set
aside especially for this nurpose. Eere was built a sanc-
tuary for wild fowl, with feeding stations and orotection
of all sorts for the birds.

The gcreater part of this work was accomnlished by the
Civilian Conservation Corns camp which haé been established
on the Franklin County fair erounds at Hanpton. The matter
of getting +this C.C.C. camp was not easy. Dr. Johnson and
A. Co Wilford worked hard to get the project assigned to
this, their own territory, and a large cuoavany of C.C.C.
boys was organized July 4, 1834. July 12, Captain Carl .
Tanminen arrived in Eampton tc take charge. Tents were put
up to house the 195 men who arrived July l4. On the first
night they were there, a severe storas case up which alrost
demolished their tent c¢ity. Vhen the wind ané rain were
over, only two tents were 1left standing, but the next day
they were put back up and work at the camp stvarted. ~ Perms-
nertbuildings were started August 31, to house the officers
and men through the conming winter. NNine barracks, a hospi-
tal, mess hall, recreation building, cowmbination bathhouse
and latrine, officers' guarters, and administration buildings
were erected,

This C.C.C. company worked <for several years on the
pro ject of Beed's Iake. The educational advisor, Larle M.
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Briges, carried out a conpreinensive educational progran
throughout the time that the camp was stationed at XLauapton.

.Jhen the lake was Tfinished, the multi-coloreé figures
of the bathers in bright caps anéd suits, the dark green of
the growing trees, the white sandy beach and blue ri-spling
water, the solitary forms of a few Tfishermen, and the small
boats bobbing at anchor contrasted strangely viith the menmory
of former scenes at the old mill,

By 1940 the State Conservation Cormission had a»nproved
a mrcposed nurchase of an adcitional 30-acre tract for fish-

-

rearing vponds, ‘Jith the adcditional ponds it was expected
that there wonld be ample hatchery facilities to suoply ail
the fish needs for Beed's lLaxke, and also a sufficient nurber
to sup»nly most of the 3tate-owmed lakes, except the big ones

at Spirit ILake and Ckoboji.

Ilater, a coutract for +the ccnstruction of additional
fish nursery pounds for the Beedt!'s .lake State Park was award-
ed to Weldon Brotuers of Iowa Falls by the State Conserva-
tion Commissiocn. The project was to cost approxiuately
$12,000, The plans, put into execution imnediately, called
for a large minnow pond and two bullhead ponds north of the
ponds already 1in use, and three »ponds in the area east of
the Reeck Island tracks tc be used for game fish.



CEAXT-R 6
HEAMPTOIT - THE CCULITY SEAT

The site of Hanmnton was first settled in 3esptember 1854
when, as relateé earlier in this story, Job Garner accuired
a claim from James and Leander Reeve, and built a cabin at a
bend of Scuaw Creek, near a grove and & floiing spring. It
was Garner who with George Ryan founcded the towvn in 1858
ané called it Benjamin. It kept tkat nzame for several years,
until the Dlace vecame the county seat. On Cctober €, 1£26,
the Hamnton chanter of the D. 4. R. set up a bDronze marker
to identify the site of Garner's original cabin.

Scrie records state that A. Freetoe carie to Hamapton in
1855 znd brousht with hirm the machinery for the first saw-
mill of the county, wihich had a cavacity of 3,000 feet of
lumber per aaV, ané was onerated by steam. It was probably
located on Sprine Creek north of Hamnton, for we ‘tmow that
in 185€ T. . Zaasberry built a c¢am over Snring Creek and
set up a gristmill and awrmill which he zfterward sold to
George Beed. The mill site Dbecame a vart of Beed's Lake
State Parkx. This grist nill was »robably the first Tfiour
mill in the county, Tor Scuaw Creek was no deubt too shallow

stream to turn the wheels of a ill,

a~fter the town was »latted, the first bvulilding to be
erected was a story-ancé-a-hnalf sitructure made of logs and
»ut up by T. T. Rawson and his brother-in-law, Frank Geiger.
It was stocked with groceries, dry goods, hardware, and
wiiskXey and becane the first store at Iampton. Cther addi-
tions that vear were a blacksmith shop Xept by Jacoo ohldleg.
and sanother by Jaxes Thompson. In 16857 T. B. and ¥. E.
Carpenter started another store. That was the year when J.
D. Thompsor was rade district judge.

During these early years Hamnton grew rapidly. The
steam sawmill turned cut more and imore lumber for new build-
ings. All about Hanpton, and at Iiaysville too, oak trees
and tall cottonwoods, hickory and black walnut trees were
beine converted into cabins, stores and business buildings.
The Franxlin County ..ericultural Society was organized and
the first newspaper was published.

The aewspaper was started by Thomas Drumsiond of ~te
Vinton Easle who came to Eampten in the fall of 1838 +to
secure the delincuent tax list for publication. Since there
Was 1o newspaner in the entire county at that time, the

ield looked gool to him so he went back to Vinton, secured
old naterial from the Eagle office and started the new veL-
ture in Hammton during February, 1€56. Thus began the
Franklin Recerd, a sSix column ;ollo, all home print. The
Eampton Host offlce had already been established in 1E57

58



with Robsrt Piztt as »jostmaster, anéd was now a noney order
stetion. The newspaper did not aosnear regularly, however,
because fampton's growth was retarded during the Civil ar.
Men were leaving every day for the front, and everyone was
uncertain and anxious abtout tkhe future. Printing sunplies
were aard to get and fipally in 1863, the Recorda stopr»oed
ailtogether,

Jo. C. Whitney bought the equipment of the defunct paper
for $350 and started another called the TFranklin Reporter.
The first issue came out in kizy 1€66. During the fo%low1ng
sunrer, Whitney hired = var veteran, Levi RBeardsley Raveoend,
to work in the newspaper office. Ravymonéd, a stirong six-
footer with blue eyes, light ©brown hair and a sandy beard,
was said to be a "warnm friend and a bitter enemy.? Invalid-
ed from the army in 1883, he had been emgloyed to teach the
Tirst term of school in the new building erected between the
lots on Reeve Street later occuvnied by Cannam Eouse and
Grey's I'ur store.

ATfter working on the Reporter that summer of 1805, Ray-
moné went back to teaching in the fall. He had a school
nezar the foot of layne's Grove. The nex sumner he worked
as agent for a school furniture house and in the fall assum-
ed some distinction =vith his election as superintendent of
Franklin County schools. 4After retaining this office for
two years, he started the successful Harmpton Free Press.

In 1872 Ravrond visited the northwest part of the State
returning with a “violent attack of western fever.” Piocneecrs
were 2lwavs moving westward and he wanted *to go also. KHe
sold his Hanpton Free Press to hitney and mnoved to Cheroxee
in Cherockee County -+rhere he started a journal called the
Cherokee lLeader. Ee nex purchased +the O'Brien Fioneer in
O'Brien County and the Sioux County herald at Crange City.
Ile started a fourth paper at Dovon in Lyon County and a fifth
at Newell in Buena Vista County. Ilater he racec with a
blizzarcd and almost froze to death drivinz back tc Cherokee
in tiame to start the 3heldon ikiail to beat out a prospective
rival. But in 1874 Ravrmond had to close the offices of his
various newspepers.

The gzrasshopper scourge camne to unorthiwest Iowa, creps
were wiped out, and many farsers had to begin all over
again. i‘oney was scarce and Rayrmond lost so such that he
was Tforced to move on and try his luck elsewhere. After
workineg for a time in Des lioines he went to Eamnton where in
Decenber 1877 he started the Eampton Leader. This paper was
later consolidated with the Franiklin Recorder.

Raymoné ha¢ narried I’ary 0. Leverich 1in 1&€6€. One of
his dauchters was to become Giirs. llae Rule, the wife of Dr.
J. S. Rule.
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In the rneanwhile Whitney had combired Rayrondt'!s earlier
paper the IHamdton Free Irress with the Renorter, and ckanged
the mname to the Franklin Recorder. On hay 29, 1€72, J. C.
n2arwoot purchesed a %slf interest, acouiring comnlete con-
trol in august 1876, 4an early history of FraakXlin County
'vas published as a serial in the Recorder in 18&0.

When Whitnevy sold the Recorder to Harwood, he nurchased
The liarnet, which had been established in 1871 by i. C.
maton., This had been a good paper, filled with interesting
news and sastained by good aédvertising patroage. ‘hitney
changed +the mname to The Chronicle and »nrinted his first
issue august 2, 1l€76, editing it with a view %o expressing
the opinions of the Republican narty. This was to become
the leading newspaper of Franklin County.

Business had prospered in awpton after the close of
the Civil War. The first drug store was opened then by TDr.
O. B. Harriman, who was to become owaer of the first overa
house. The first furniture store was started by U. iecks
and a shoe store was established by G. L. Spencer. Xenry
and Jonas Schlesinger's clothing store was already in opera-
tion. after that 1in rapid succession came a wmiliiner's
shop, a barber shop, a jewelry store, a restaurant, a
tobacco store, a harness shop, and a lumber yard. John Lan-
bert and his son were the first wagon-makers in Hamptong
Charles Rogers, the first baker; Dr. i.. I. Ross, the first
dentist, and Stephen lurphy, the {first tailor. The Tfirst
meat market was opened by a ran named Illewton, and G. H.Brock
kept the first book and stationery store.

Hamptont's first notel has already been mentioned. It
burned in 1€76, but by that time the guests were already be-
ing attracted +to Andrew J. Cennam's “Cannam House?,built
in 1875, It was a large frame structure ophosite the city
park, and contained thirty-one rooms. The Thoenix Hotel,
opened by E. S. Stiles 1in 1l&€65 was also very sopular, and
izsted until the soring of 1912, when it gave way for the
Jindsor Theater. In 1218 the new Coonley became one of the
leading hotels in northern Iowa.

By 1855 Hampton had outgrown the old schoolhouse and a
new one was built., This was a stone structure, two stories
high and containing four large rcoms., So fast did Hampton
grow that in a few years extra rooms had to be rented for
this school.

In 1&€67 the courthouse was finished. It was 48 x 72
feet and cost 415,000, In 1870 Hampton was 1incorporated by
special election &and the first church was ouilt, a Baptist
Church building put up &t a cost of ;0,000., From that time
on Hampton's growth was more and more rapid and on Januery
20, 1823 Governor Boies of Iowa granted it a charter for a
city of the second class. The population of the newly creat-
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ed city was 2,53¢. In 1540 thris fifure hsé increased to
4,C02. The nopulation of the county, which in 1860 haé been
only 1,309 had become 16,303 in 1940.

AS Hampton becane a city, nore churches were built
until there were the TFirst ilethodist E»niscepal, Consrega-
tional, First Bantist, Christian, Catiolic, and albrecht
Evangelical., Industries developed andéd :1ore conveniences
were added. In 18920 the people voted to have & waterworks
installed. Five acres of land were purchased by the city
from H. A. Barriman in the east section of town and here a
deen well was dug, a resepwir .14 power-house erected zand
machinery 1installed. Between the courthouse and the city
park a steel standnipe went up, a hundédred feet 1in =tcigat.
Pipes were laid, the waterworks for the city was finished,
and a nlerntiful sup»rly of pure water flowved into the homes
of Hampton and into the public builcings. Just thirty-five
vears before, the first homes of Zampton had been built be-
side flowing springs fron which came a2ll the water wuscd,
and just as part of the -reirie land was plowed up and turn-
ed into fields in a rewarkable short time, su ecually fast
other prairie lands were turned into towns and cities, mark-
ed off into Dblocks and streets, »iped and paved, measured
and named. Thus the 71little srairie towas™ grew into big
prairie towms.

In 1892 an ordinance was nassed for the brick paving
of TFourth Street, from Reeve to the Iowa Central depot.
From time to time other paving was done and in 1212 forty-
two Dblocks were paved with concrete and finished with con-
crete curbing at a cost of about 465,000,

AlSo as early as 1E92 the city hadé alresdy granted a
franchise for the erection and maintenance of an electric
light plant. E. Buck of the Hampton Light and Power Company
had the franchise, which is a permissiocn to build and oper-
ate, ané that vear a plant was erected ané nut to work. In
the fall of 1913, 56 electroliers were put up aiong the
principal streets ané from that time on the city was well
lighted.

4 new 320,000 school building haé been erected in 1876
on the east side. The same vTear the town was incorporated,
1893, this school burned down and a new one had to be built.
liade of brick, it consisted of two stories and a basement,
and cost 32,000, This new building was dedicated January
1¢, 189%94.

Oney Fred Sweet, the Chicago newspaperman, was a snall
boy in the fifth grade at Hamnton when the schoclhouse
burned. In his own words: “"There was a wild night wind
blowing and from a sw»ectator's standépoint the coaflagration
was the most satisfactory in the town's history.' He went
on to »oint out the secret hope in the ninds of the school
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children, especially the boys who watched, hopingz that the
firemen would fail to stop the blaze so there would be no
school tomorrow. It was a three-story brick builéing,
sturdy and well built, and at first many thought it cculd be
saved. But by mnmidnight the flames hac¢ reached the high
belfry and tre firemen stenped back. They had given unp the
fight. Soon the high walls fell in with a nnicgkty crash and
smoke ané¢ flames roared skyward. ow ever7oody knrnew there
could be no school tonorrow. But it wes not riany €ays be-
fore temporary arranecrents were ade in other buildings and
school went on. The Tifth srade had a schoolroom do ntown
on the second floor of the BRBeed Fotel, anéd the cnildren
thought it a great novelty to go &o.mtown to school.

Extensive imnroverments in  schooling facilities were
uncer consideration cduring 1941. Hampton was given asnproval
of the »roposed TFederal grant of 599,000 if the voters of
the Independent School District of Hampton would mateh it
with a bond issue of 120,000 to erect & new school building
on the west side, and to make 1imnrovements and an addition
to the n»nresent high school builéins on the east side,

according to estimates, the cost of the new addition
and the improvements to the nigh schcol building would reach
about $170,000. The cost of the 7“roposed new school build-
ing on the west side was figured to be close to ;33G,000, and
would run that rmuch, taking the new equipment 1into consid-
eration.

On the east side there was to be an addition to the
high schcecol, built at the east ané housing an auditorium
seating about 1,000 pversons. Too, a .odéern gyrnasium was
included in the p»lan, with ample sezating capacity not only
for Hampton high school games, but also for tournaments. The
regulation floor was planned 45 x 75 feet, with all seats
arranged between the baskets to afford ecually goodé -vievs.

A new heating plant and building was also to be 1in-
stalled under the »Hrcposed buirlding prograni.

The o»rograrn that tock nlace on the east side scheol
gcrounds at the laving of the cornerstcerl on July 21, 1¢3€,
at 2:30 o'clock, was in charge of Superintendent Arthur k.
RankZin. The cornerstenc 1. 7ipg ceremony was in charge of
I. H. Davis, »resident of the board of education. Senator
Guy ii. Gillette ané Congressman John W, Gwynne were the out-
side speakers,

In telling of school sames, Onev Fred Sweet has said
that football was locally introduced by =Earl Ferris, who
came home from college for vacations and taucht the game to
the boys at Hampton. Before this, football had seexmed to
belonz to the esreat scibools of the Hast, such as Yale or
Princeton. Eagerly the students studied the rule beoX and
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learned to zlay, but the game did not easily becowe a favor-
ite. Golf, too, was adopted slowly anéd »laryed little. Rase-
ball, however, was as native to Hampton as the srairie sod,
aund that was the game everyone uncerstood and liked. It was
the game of the »nionesers ané vas carried oan by their childg-
ren and thelr grandchildren. Other sanes entioned by Sweet
were "One old cat?, *duck ou the recck®?, ‘roly soly", rarbles
ana a night hide-and-seek game called “tally ho.»

The Lampton children loved to go to the shows at 0. B.
Harriman's Opera Xouse. Thcre behindé +the Xkerosem:s foot-
lights they saw the most wonderful drames ever stased, or so
it seemed to them. The plavers stayed at the Beed Hotel and
it was always exciting to watch them come ané go. Cora
HJarner and her Comedy company stayved for a weex and gave a
different show every night, and the Beach and Bovers . iin-
strels entertained gaily at many different times. Iiloney was
scarce in early davs and the boys would try to get Jjobs
carrying hand bills or running errands for the players, for
a free ticket. If thevy falled to earn their +tickets they
sometimes tried to eet in free through the skylirsht window
at the front. E. J. 3toneovraker, the jenitor, often caught
them at it and because he seemed rough and hard-hearted the
boys called him “"Stoney.™ Le wos really 2 good citizen, a
veteran of the Civil “Jar, anéd one of the 7Foungest members of
McXenzie Post. In 19226 he became State Commznder of the G.
A. R. organization.

The Phoenix EFotel was the oléd hotel of the town and had
been buillt during the early davs when it served as a stop-
ping place for stagecoeches, “Then the stares »ulled up to
the hotel = faniliiar sieht for travelers vias IZ. 3. 3tiles
(cléd man Stiles), who was Tforever patching up the »plank
sidewalk in front of the Phoeniz Eotel with pleces of tin.
i.any 7ears later the tall Coonley Hotel was built by John E.
Coonley, another of Franilin County pioncers, anG replaced
the grand olé Phoenix.

Other early business nen anc settlers Sweet nentions
are: the .:otts' for whoa 1.0ttt township was named. These
Motts were landowners and tkere were three -- .lbert, C. J.

and Lelos . 1i0tt. There was also three Iilarrimaan brothers,
menry, '.alter F. and 0. B. Harriman. walter later becane
State Senatcer. Fred Iarriman, who ©iay have been one of the
sons, vas an early automobile owner, a2n¢ was xilled in the
county's first autosziobile accident, when nis car rlunged off
the road while traveling at a speed of thirty niles an hour.

I"'e 7. Beebe was an early luumber dealer and his son,
wéwin ». Beebe, staved on in Hampton except Gurine the time
of his enlistment in the S»anish american Jar. 3Sons of Isasc
Robinson continued the banking business ané the Scliiesinger
boys carried on the clothing trade. L. 3. Patterson, a er-
chant, called his drvagooés store ‘'The Texmple of Ecovnomy.*
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His son, too, went on with the business. Charles Lockwood
Beed adopted the hardware business <founded by his fatter,
Charles Beed. These were the ‘'horse and buggy® days when
men drove "fringe topped® phaetons or surreys and the first
porcelain bathtubs were bveing introduced into unewly built
homes. The Gav ilineties were prosperous Gays for Franklin
Counity.

It was in 1890 that the third of Franklin County's
three courthouses was erected. Franklin County's Tirst
courthouse had been constructed in 1€57, a one-story frame
building, 18 bvy 30 feet in size. It haé only one room. The
second building of stone was erected in 1£66 andé was two
stories high and 4& by 70 feet in size. It cos’ sometking
more than $12,500. The third was started in 1820 and com-
pleted in 1891 at a cost of 60,000, It measured 78 by 102
feet on the ground and rose to a aeight of 133 feet. During
this time Sweet, whose nother taught school in the stone
building which served as courthouse until the new one was
ready, was a small boy. He told in 140 of zow he had
climbed over the scaffolding,and how at last when the build-
ing was almost done, he saw the bronze statue of Justice
rlaced at the vervy tiptop of the high dome to stand there
for all time, blindfold but holdine her balanced scales cover
the town. One night during a severe windstori the statue of
Justice lost her scales. The next morning, by way of a jokeg
somreone said Now there is no more Jjustice left in Hampton.®
But quietly above the tops of the wmaples 1in the sguare the
statue held her »lace. The faniliar figure had become part
of the 1life of the town.

There were tliiree Ferris families of Ilampton, all en-
gagedéd 1in horticulture, on three sides of the town. They
were Ben Ferris, Sol Ferris and John C. Ferris. The TFerris
men, members of tke G. A. R., all raised various iinés of
trees at first, which were sold by agents in Iowa and in the
Dakotas or wherever farmers needed trees to plant for groves
or windbreaks on their farms. Then in 1%05 Zarl Ferris, son
of 30l, started a mall order business andé sold seeds, trees
and plants. This business grew rapidiy until in 194C i'r.
Ferris was selling nursery stock in every 3State in the Union
anc two hundred employees were hired during rush seasons to
wrap, nall and shinp the stock.

The Franklin County Fair, scheduled each September ''when
the grapes were beginning to »urple and the =znights were
starting to cool? was in 1890 a celebration as exciting as
the Fourth of July. From all over the county gay tkrongs of
people came in burgies, wagons or surries until the streets
were full of horses trotting back and forth with dusty
hooves. All roads 1led to the Fair Grounds. Eere were nmany
attractions: the grandstand where the baseball games and
races could be seen, Floral Hall, where jellies, cookery,
natchwork auilts and embroidery were disniayed, the stock
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oens where prize-winning animals were Xept, and teats for
sicde shows, booth andé concessions, In front of Floral Hall
was a pumnd where cool water couid be had and thirsty fair-
goers drank fram the tin cup that hung by the well. There
was also the cane rack, the pounding machine where lusty
farmers tried thielr strength by pounding on a coutrivance
with a sledge hammer, and last but not least was the agerry-
go-rount, nusic ana glamour irresistible! liere, where wood-
en horses galloped under a Ligh canopy, rescunced the laugh-
ter and <rhythm of the carnival, ané here the frolicking
versistence of hurdy-gurdy tunes won nore nickels from
children thar would whole stands of »ink lemonade,

Cther business wmen and »laces of the dav of the 1£€¢0
fair were Will, ILcu, and Joon E. Rule, 1ane's Boox Store,
Refsneider's restaurant, Bailer's Barber hop, anéd 1rs.
Whitcomb's Zillinery Shov. liew hats were as inmportant in
the "nineties” a2s in later davs and eacir vyear a ‘triomer®
came from Chicago to introduce new styles in felt or straw.

The Bailey's Buarber 3hop znd the rhelps Livery Barn
were beth important nlaces at that time. Izre reigned a
political forum and Cvrus Robert's shoe renairing shop was
called ‘“"Temmany’® beczuse so0 panvy national 1issues viere
brought there for heated and »rolonged discussion. L. B.
Rayrond ané later Tom Purcell, both editors, had state-wicde
influence as leaders in »olitical aifairs. ‘7. D. Bvans of
iiampton became a State Supreme Court Judge but still Zept
his Hamnton residence. Jdohn /. LuKxe was a Eampton attorney
who became State Railroad Comriissioner. Iuke, called Cap
Tuke by his friends, was a veteran of the Civil Jar and a
ioyal citizen of Hampton. Eis wife 1is rcmembered as a lov-
gble and Jolly woman who was always on nand to serve hot
coffee ancd baked beans at G. n. Re "Camnpilres. .all tihese
reople contributed toward the wuaking of & progressive coni-
rmunity.

Turing the presidential campaign of 1C€5 "Jilliaw iieilin-
iey sopoke at Hampton from the rear of an Iowa Central rail-
way coach. &t that time ©d Brandon, who had named his son
Willianr iicifinley Brandon, iiftec the boy over the heads of
the crowd so that the child could Hresent the presidential
nominee with a bouguet of prairie wildflowers., The incident
was played up in Chicego aewspapers the following day.

It was during ilcilinley's administration, adril 1E8C,
that America declared war on Svain. Voluntecers were imnedi-
atelv” called and boys from all over Frankxlin County enlisted
in the army. Flags were displaryed at all the towns and a
company of soldiers was organized at Eampton., This was
Company D and was only partly filled when orders came for
the cumnany to go to Des licines to the Tirst tralining camp.
Iater on this organization was seat to camp at Chickamauga,
Georgia. It was very hot in Georgia and ar epidenmic of ty-
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phecid fever broke out in camp. Five boys from Franklin
County died. They were John W. French, WNed L. Clock of
Maysville, John Brophy, William Demo, and William Liowery.

Some of the men fought at Santiago, Cuba with Theo-
dore Roosevelt's Rough Riders, and others sailed across the
Pacific Ocean to fight 1in +the Philippine Islands. J. C.
Foughty of Hempton was sent to Lianilsa. liere Commodore
Dewey destroyed the Spanish Fleet and in a fierce battle the
Americans defeated the Spanish on land. Foughty says it was
unbearatly hot cndthe billets flew as thick as hail stonesq
Finally the American troops were victorious on sea and on
land; peace was declared, and the Spanish American War was
over. The TUnited States had gained Cuba, the island of
Guam, Puerto Rico, and the Philippines.

Soldiers from Hampton and from Frarnklin County who en-
listed are namez& as follows:

Earl Clock Ned L, Clock Je. Po Meyers
Edgar Dolson Charles Chesterfield Harvey Roemer
Raymond Dclson M, F. Clark Frank Scott
Charles Homer John C, Ferris Ernest lleyer
D. A. Page John C. Foughty Baer Frank
Clay L. Pearse John We French Durr leach

E. A. Beebe John ¥W. Harriman J. B« Baylis
George A. Burns G. Te. McGrillis Aldinger
Samuel E. Campbell William Liowery

Wn. Wichersheim Alfred Feene

The coming of the twentieth century heralded many im-
provements and additions for the city of Hampton: ZXariy in
1902 a sewage system was installed and in 1910 a sewage dis-
posal plant was adéed to the system to Keep Franklin County
streams from pollution,

In 1905 a franchise was granted to John Howie, T. J. J»
Leckband and others for the manufacture of gas, and by the
fall of 1906 this plant was in full operation.

The Hampton Public Library was the result of the steady
and concerted effort of Hampton citizens led by Cols L+ B.
Raymond, for many years editor of the FrankKlin Recorder. He
made two trips to Washington, D. C. in behalf of the library
and helped to obtain from the Andrew Carnegie foundatlon the
grant by which the library was built. The Carnegie donation
was $10,000 for the building and books., The city of Hampton
paid 33,660 for the site. Other expenses brought the entire
cost to $316,9816.35. The library was opened October 6, 1905,
This library has proved of great value to the entire county.
The librarian in 1940 was Miss Mary Kingsberry«

A new 360,000 high school building andé larger  grade
schools on the =east and west side were to become a part of
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Harpton's educational eguipnient. a4 normal +training course
was made a vart of the high school curriculum in 19I2. The
Hampton High Schcol was one of the first in the State to
offer education courses to prepare students for teaching
vositions.

In 1914 members of a group of German Lutheran Churches
in the northern nart of Iova decided to build a hospital at
Hampton, and for this purpvose formed the German ILutheran
Hospital Association. The Reverend Otto ven Gemningen of
Hampton was elected president; E. Hempel of RBradford, Iows,
vice president; the Reverend H. 4. llaes of Hubbard, Secre-
tary; and Edward Dohrmann of Hampton; treasurcr. The cor-
nerstone of the comnietely medern hosnital +to be built on
Reeve Street fronting on the city »nark, and to be equipped
to accommodate 75 patients, was laid with elavorate cere-
monies in December 1214. The Reverend GKr. Steger of Fair-
banks delivered a sermon on the text, "Thou shalt love thy
neighbor as thyself ', and in thanking the citizens of Hamp-
ton for their aid, ernphasized that the hosp>ital would be
open to all regarcless of creed, nationality, conditions, or
the nossession of this world's goods. The Reverend 0tto von
Gemaingen proclaimed the cornerstone laid according to the
laws of the German Lutheran Church. The hospital was opened
in September 1915,

When the United States entcred the World vwar in 1917,
Franklin County men were as guick tc¢ respond to the call for
service under the colors as they had been in 1861 znd 1&¢8,
ilore than five hundred are estimated to have put on thelr
country's uniform and entered the various branches of the
army, the navy, and the marine corps. The najority belonged
to the Eighty-eighth Division, which was trained at Cam
Dodge and sent to France in the late summer of 1¢16.

The first of Frainklin County's "Gold Stars™ was hung in
the home of Eilert Johnson, who died at Camp Pike, Little
Rock, Arkanses.

George Arthur Aldinger was the first Hampton man to be
k¥illed in action. Xe died on the battlefields of France on
august 10, 1¢18.

Twe Red Cross nurses, laud Andrews and Letha Shafer,
cdied in the service and were buried at Hampton.

A Eamnton=born officer who attained unusual distinction
in the {Jorld "Jar was Villiam Daniel Leahy who attained the
rank of cantain, after being in command of the U.S.S.Dolphin
in the Iilexican Hunitive expedition of 1¢16. A graduate of
the U. S. Yaval ascaderty at annavolis 1n 1897, he had first
seen active service in the ©Philipnines during the Spanish
American Var. Leahy was chief of staff during the 1Micara-
guan occupation in 19212 and later held the same position in
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Haltian cansaign. fZe was promoted to the rank of admiral in
command of the battle force in 1936 and 1837 and was chief
of naval operations until his retirement in 1¢39. Fe is
sald to have been the only officer in American naval history
to Lave teen the chief of the important bureaus of COrdnance
and lavigation, as well as cinief of naval operations. .fter
leaving active service, adimiral ieahy was avnointed Governor
of Puerto Rico in 1939, and in 1S41 TUnited States arbassador
to the Vichy Governmment in France. adeiral Ieahy was born
in Hampton on May § 1875, the son of iiichael and Ruse Leahy.
The family noved to Jlscon51n during his boyhcod.

A huge nass-neeting and celebratior was held at Hampton
on October 17, 1919 in honor of the soldiers and sailors and
others who vere rcturning from their various fielids of ser-
vice. Twelve thousana persons attended the exercises, at
which the Hon. Yathan Hendall was the principal speaXer. a
free ox dinner was served to all.

The first American Legion post in Franklin County wa
orvanlzed at Eampton sugust 30, 1o19 and naricd the George A.
A¢dlng9r Post No. 183, Louis ~ogers was the first commander.

terwards the men from Sheffield and other towas organized
their own »nosts.

At 5 ofclock in the morning December 29, 1936, the first
trans-Atlantic telephone call 1in the county was rade from
Hampton. ilrs. Fred Schmidt made the call to Berlin, Germany,
to consratulate her wother . on her e¥ghty-first birthday.
Lirs. 3chnidt had not seen her mother for seven vears and the
three minutes of time she could talk secmed to go very fast.
Soon the operator in New York was saying, "“Time is up. Lill
you please say goeod-bdbvye now, ™" and the ,“ll was over.,

The long distance wires carried the Cdll Tirst from
Hampton to ilew York and thence the Rocxy Point, Long Island,
where it was btroadcast to Caper, Scotland. From there 1t
went bv wire to London and thience by subizarine cable under
the Engliish channel to the coast of Germeny and then by wire
to Berlin. The return essage did not follow the same route
but traveled from Berlin to Rugby, EnglainG, by cable, theice
by Dbroadcast to Iioulton, liaine, then to Aev'YorA, and from
there to liampton over the sane long distance wire.

]

The designation of Highway 65 2s a rnatioral highway in
1927 opened a new futurec not only to the county seat, but to
all the residents of Franklin. The 7roposed »rogra included
sorie necessary changes in the countryside, such as the
raising of low svots near the Sheffield cornbr, gracing fron
Sheffield cornorate limit to the north cceunty line, rebuild-
ing the grade fronr a »oint one in2ile “orth of Hampton to
three miles north of +the city, cutting down the hill and
filling in low places near Four lkiile Schoolhousc, putting
new brideges over Scuaw and layne Creeks, and cutiing down
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the hilll rnear Scuaw Creex. But when the worx was completed,
Franxlin County land was 1linked integrally to the wonderful
national highway system. The cdays of grezine buffalo, rum-
bling orairie schooner--even of the ©ld s»ring wagon -- had
long been gone. But the davs of pioneer rotoring, of big
awzward autorobiles plowine thelr way through zuééy roads or
stickking fast in the gumbo until »ulled out by horses or
tractors, had faded, too. ifow streamlined cars could snecsd
over a streanline@ hirshwav and an ever increasing overland
traffic would connect Iowa and Fran+iin County with the
north, south, east, and west. TIunroved 3tate and Cownty
roadas formed a anetworlt for transportation. On the south
border of the county, U. 3. Liizhway 20 was soon ©to »provide
direct contact east and west..

-

b/ ]

Three Iowa farm boys, I.arlan Leouard, Lester Clson and
Rarmond r.onghan, comprising the Fran<lin County Tarnm
Zureau's champion Junior cattle judging team of the United
States, represented this country at the International Dairy
Cattle Show, held at Chichester, near London, Zngland, July
7 to 11, 1925. The Dboys were awaracd the <Trip, with a
24,000 apnronriation to pay the expenses, because they had
won the State nonors at the Dairy Cattle Consress held at
Waterloo, andéd cantured first Laonors with a lead of 133
points at the Mational Dailry Show, held in liilwaukee. Gover-
nor John Harmmill signed the bill of awwronriation without
hesitation.

"The victory of the Iowa teari is a becost of Iowa cairy-
ing,”" declared Charles E. Hearst, president of the Iowa Farm
Bureau Tederation, #as these boys got ail of their +training
in judeing Towa deiry catitle. 1t is a distinct honor for
Iowa to send its championship team to represent the United
States at the Interrnational Show."™

A cablegram reccived at Ianpton brougnt the joyful news
that the three Franklin County boys, representing "the U.S. 7
at the International junior dairy Jjulging contest held 1n
England, hacé boen pronounced “‘world champions.'

The tear was coached by V. B. Hamilton, county agent of
Franklin County, who deserved much credit for the success of
the boys. Iir. Iamilton, with Zarl isaver, head of tne dairy
husbandry department of Iowa State Colilege at ames, and Iirs.
Hamilton accompa:nied the trio on their trin to Europe.

A $250 gold trophy was awarded the team as the result
cf the contest in Lngland znd it was thelrs to take home
with them. The trio was creditsd with “placing Fraaklin
County on the map.? 1ot only the people of Iowa, but those
iiving all cver the United 3tates felt pride in their junior
champion team and their excellent coach.
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One of the lzrgest crowds that ever assesbled in the
mampton city park, conservativelr estimated at 3,5C0 neople,
net together tc tender the chamvion judees a whole-earted
welicome on their return, ané to shover fﬁqpr1u1lut¢ons to
the tric and their coach, Cownty igent V. B. Harilton.

Franxlin County's imnortance in the aericulitural world
was again demonstrated in April 1928, when Brown Swiss his-
tory was mace by the recordé sale of +the (C. ¥F. Osborne
estate's herd. Doctor Csborne, who haé died suédenly in
February of that year, had been for 12 jears chief surgeon
at the ILutheran Hespital in Hampton and in addéition was
nown throughout the LIiddle West as a breedsr of fine castle
anc¢ the owner of the Lowa B*o;n Swiss Company. Buyers fronm
& number of state _ncluclng liinnesota, Iiichigan, Tew York,
f1linois, Penns?lvania, Wisconsin, Onhio, and Ilebraska, a&as
well as Jowa were cxong the 1,500 persons wno atternced the
auction. The 47 cows, bulls anéd heifers sold brought a
total of 31,850, sald to have been the nighest price ever
recordéed for a Brown Swiss herd -- an average of ;677.65 an
enimal. Frank J. zoller of Schenectady, New York, paid the
record price of $5,400 for Silver Be;*, a 10-7ear-o0léd world
champion cow. Zocller also bought Swiss Girl, a 6-7year-old,
for 3,250, and lancy Liay, a 7-year-old cow, for 3700. . P.
Ternes of Detr01t nurchased 11 head of cgttlo for 5,000
including College Ethel V. at $1,100. i brother of Andrew
iiellon, Secretary of the Treasury, bought Io . 3.C's. Silver
Crimes, an Zusgust bull calf, for ;1,u75, to te sent with an
€-year-old cow, to the Iilellon Rolling RockX farsm near raila-
delphia. The sale disnersed a rreat herd tc éifferent parts
of the country. Four animals, however, were purchased for
Franklin Countv Lerds, by Dallas harrison of Iiaagpton, Fred
fralle of Iatimer, aand John Christianson of Cculiter.

0 o’ m

In 1931 Robert T, Iamilton and a. Te Hamilton, suong
the most »nrominent fpwders of cattle in northern Iowa, macae
the largest sSingle ripment of fat cattle ever to go to
rarXxet from Fraaklin Cuunuy. It consisted of 555G yearlings
cnd two-ysar-cld steers and pade up 2 snecial 2Z8-car train
from Bradforéc, Iowa tc the Lormel Dacklna Cbmnany of .sustin,
Ilinnesota. The srhipment totaled aysroximately 358,000,

Fred itte, vho lives two rniiles east of Iatimer, sold
173 hogs averaging 330 poundés to the Decker Coripany buyving
station in Hampton, and received a check for 5,638.12. Nzls
T. 'alm, manager, cxnressed the belief that t“ls check was
he 1crgest ever ¢ivern to one indivicual by that station.

On October 1B, 1940, pressed b7y the erergency of a new
and forridable world crisis, the United States called on all
her veuth between +the ages of 21 &nd 35 to T=e«gis‘a:e:t' for
training service. harl IzVonne Floden, novard Benjamin
Wwalsh and Nels Walter Dewey Chrlsteasen all of zampton, were
among the first seven men from Frau«lin County called out
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for dutv in 19240-41 under the Selective Treining Service acth.
Robert Ylarne Iumley held the Tfirst number drawn - - 15&.
Francis Burt Gentry and Russell DeForest ..orehouse of chef-
field, Loran Cliffton Toble of Cha»in and liovard aAndrew Brown
of Coulter were also in the Tfirst group suimoned. Twesnty-
four volunteers haéd alreadv offered thelr services to their
country.



C:iLAFTER ©

SHIFT'IZID, CIIAFTIl, AMD GEITEVA

Sheffield, the secornd largest town in Franklin County,
took the »place of an earlier settlement <nowm as Shobe's
Grove. Jchn Shobe, the original settler, was cormissioned
postriaster Cctober &, 1861,

The first school had been held in Clinton Township
wiere the grove was located, in the winter of 1655-1860,
when a liiss liolt gave instruction to two »Hupils in an old
log smokehouse Dbuilt on 3ection 1. Better guarters for
teacher and studeuts were found the fol.ovwing spring.

During the Civil VWar three of Shobe's sons went to the

ront and fought with Capt. James B. Reeve 1in the fierce

battle of ilissionary Ridge. Cantain Resve died in the war,

and Charles Shobe was severely wounded, but all three of the
brothers l1ived to return home,

Iike most communities, chobe's Grove did not really
becin to srow wntil the nicdéle years of the post-war recon-
struction. Then the Gllmans cane along. slbert G*lgan,
Fregident of the Central Towa Railwavr, had been a resicdent
of Illarshalltown. Iie nlatted & town in TI'ebrusrv, 1&€74z, and

named it in Lhonor of his friend ohe lilClQ »ho lived in
Dubucue, but who was said to have been the or: ciqal owner of
some of the lanéd used. On iliarch 27, 1&74, the o0ld post
office of Shote's Grove was closed and & new one onened at
SheTfield, .4t that time /. 3. Bowen received his appoint-
ment as nostmaster.

A frame depot was the Tfirst buildinn out up on the new

town site. Soon afterward James Thompson bullt a small
frame house and disnlayved a stock of merchandise for sale in
this first store. Dr. J. li. Potter was the first nhysician.

The first schoolhouse was built in 1875 and ths first
teacher was A. C. Hernning. Thigs building served as a neet-
ing place for community ecatherines, festivals andé religious
services. The Bantists ussed it as a church until llay 1&€81,
when they occuplod thelr own new house of worship, built at
a cost of $2,300. The Bantists, organized in 1863, had been
adnitted to the Cedar Valley association in 1864.

he Sheffileld w:ethoCist Church was organized in Yoven-
ber 1880, with a npemberskhip of 40. In 1882 the church
building was ccnstructed at a cost of 2,250, It was dedi-
cated in November of that yecar. The first pastor was the
Reverend ¥. . Coleman.



Two other churches were organized during the course of
the next few years, D. 3. 3taebler of Belnond suvervised
the establishment of the 4ion Zvangelical Church in Shef-
field 1in 1888. Ke built a parsonage there the following
year. In 1895 a group of German people of the Bavptist faith
began holding their own meetings, with the Reverend Jacob
Jordan as pastor, 3Services were held in the schoolhouse and
occasionally in other churches, until the Germaan Baptist
Church was built in 1900.

Elias "/hitney built and operated Sheffield's first
hotel in 1874. A rival establishment weas soon built by John
Bolton, who operated it for many years. L. C. Schader was
ready for the business renaliscsance of 1880 with his Galena
riouse. Judge Vernlilya of Ilason City built what was said to
be Sheffield's first modern-tvpe hotel about 1899.

The town's pioneer bank was the Sheffield Bank, a ori-
vate financlal institution which began business Jaqu ry 1,
1&80, Ten vears later a new home for the bank was erected
on the corner of Gilman anéd Second streets; this was the
first brick bullding in town. In time a neat and - pleasing
array of buildings, nany of them two stories 1in height,
appeared 1n the center of town. Pressed bdbrick was the pre-
vailing material., The school, churches, elevator, crecarery
and hotel were all t7pical of a »rosperous, well built rural
town,

FranX Morgan 1issued the first aumber of the Shefiield
rfress, a five coWunﬁ‘Pollo, in 1&80, The well-edited and
well-printed Jjournal securec gererous support from the start.
The founder had begun his career at the bottom of the ladder
in a drintert's office in “’isconsin. Iater he »racticed nis
trade in Lamnpton. organ rewalined editor of the Press until
tiie fall of 1884, when he returined to iHamnton as part owner
of the Hampton Chronicle. The Sheffield Fress was still
being published as a weekly, on Toaursdays, in 1¢40, with
Lester G. Benz its editor,

Sheffield had been incorporated as a town in 1€76, and
municipal officers were elected iiay 12 of that year: ./. S.
Bowen was the first mavor; i.. Crawford, the recorder; R.
Wilde, . I{. Phelps, S. E. Spaulding, P. &s. Fope, and G. .
Culver the first trustees.

From 1€80 on, the town grew steadlily. At that time the
best land in the v1c1n1ty wes se‘llng, when improved, at $25
an acre; uninmproved land brought six to ten dollars.

Two severe fires occurring within five years of each
other destroyed rmost of the orieginal section of Sheffield,
I'uch damage was caused by the first conflagration in 1&8E&9,
but the second, in 1894, razed »nractically the whole busi-
ness part of town and caused a 60,000 1loss of which half

93



was covered by insurance. leat, harmonizing buildings re-
placed those damaged or razed by the flares..

anong the structures burned in 1894 was the headgquar-
ters of Iiulligan Post No.. 102, G. 4. Re 411 the Fost's rec-
ords were lost. ILater the Tost secured funds to build a
frame structure, the Grand Army lfemorial Hall, which was
used for years as a reeting »lace by the nmer“can Leglon and
the lasonic and 084 Fellows lodges. Charter members of the
Post had been mustered in by Cavt. R. S.. Benson and others
of Hampton's licKXenzie Post on October 2C, 18€2. The Shef-
field Post was narmed for Col..Jdames R. :tiulligan of the
Twenty-third Iilinois Infantry, who had been shot down at
the head of his cormmand at the battle before i/inchester,
July 24, 1864. Iulligan Relief Corps, lio. 303, was organiz-
ed in 1895,

sheffield Lodge, lo. 422, I.0.0.F. was established
October 20, 1881l. Thelr early records too were lost in the
fire of 1894. an auxiliary, Daughters of Rebekah, was
formed in 1E97.

The ShefTield ilasonic Loége was orgaunized in 1E£€0, the
Crder of the ZEastern Star in 1885, and argyle LoGge, Inichts
of Pythias, in 1895.

During Sheffield's midcdle vears of growth the ILiinneap-
olis and St. Louis Raillroad was extended northiward from
Fampton, as was the Chicago, Rocix Islanéd, and Pacific.

lirs. M. C. Perrin, Sheffield Tibrﬁrian, #as the guest
of honor at a silver tea in the library room llarch 14, 1¢41,
when nearly 100 patrons callied to pawv their respects to her
who had served as librarian since the organization of the
library association there in 1923. lirs. Terrin celebrated
her birthdav anniversarv two days aftsrward, iarch 17.

The visitors at the tea registered in a soecilal booklet
which was given to Mrs. Perrin in cofmemoration of the occa-
sion. She was also nresented with a boucuet of flowers and
a ¢gift, a token from the four study clubs ir the comaunity
anté the library bcard of trustees.. Silver, contributed at
the tea, was turned over to .Lirs. rFerrin who planned to use
it for purchasing a suitable gift for the lermry to per-
netuate her memory among library patrons in the Tuture.

Cne of the largest industrial concerns in Franklin
County, the Sheiffield Brick and Tile Company, was founded by
a very large deposit of Devonian shale at Sherfield, about
200 acres in extent, remarkably zvee from forelgn ﬂuuter and
recguiring little rgfwnlng or cT=an1ng° Only tihree deposits
of this clay have been fcunéd in the 3State, and sll are lo-
cated in northern Iowa.. In 1208 the company was incornorated
with a canital stock of $150,000 by L. B. Carhart, C. C.
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Carkart, ¥. I. Carhart, and C. L. Smith.

At Tirst, cormon brick and drain tile were the only
products of the dlant but in 1924 the business was enlarged
anG the out»ut broadened to include d&rain tile, hollow
building tile, flcor beam tile, face tile, hearth cubes,
face brick and coron building brick. This new plant half
a mile south of town developed wuntil, with 13 great xilns,
it had & capacitv of 12 carloads daily, emploving 60 men.
The various droducts were scheduled to meet the demand of a
trade territory embracing seven States - Iowa, Ilinnesota,
Wisconsin, Ilichigan, the Dakotas and lebraska, vhile sone
stipments were sent to Winnipeg, Canada. The nanagement of
the company in 1940 had passed into the hands of five con-
trelling directors with 3. J. Galvin the president, G. H.
Gelvin, vice presidéent, and C. R. Galvin, office ranager.

luch clay from the company's pit was used in the con-
struction of the Balley Creek Darn, on the crsek of that
name in 1936. Volunteers working under the swponsorship of
the Sportsmen's Conservation Club bullt the dam of weod,
stone and earth to recenstruct an o0ld pioneer bridge in
oheffield City Park. Some of th original timbers were
used, and a rustic footbridége now spans the creek on piling
thiat had supported the Dbridge over which »ioneers once
crossed with their ox teams. The pool was stocked with fish
cormuon to lowa streams.

He L. and C. C. Carhart organized¢ the Sheff

T
tric Light and Power Company in 1609, fumishing 1
the streets, business houses and private residence

Chapin, in Richland Townsihip, was 1aidé out by J. 3B

Grinnell, the founder of Grinnell College, and was given the
maiden name of his wife, Julla Chapnin Grinnell. asnong the
carliest scttlers were 4., S. Ross and his Tamily, and the R.

C. Breckenridges, who were 1Influenced by Grinnell to nove
from their homes near Brooklyn, in TFowesiiiekx County. They
arrived Illav 15, 1857. 1., H. Ross, a youth at the tine,
later wrote down some of his memories of those days; *J. B.
and K. H. Grinnell and father bought a steam sawaill to-
gether. Henry went to Chicago after 1t was three weeks with
oxX teams getting it here from the end of the railroad -- at
that time, I think, a 1little east of the 1Iiississippi River.
In the meantime, other people were noving in, Cbadiah Smith
did the surveving and I carried the chain when the town was
1aid out.”

hen the mill at last was brought 1n and set up to work
Chapin started a boom which lasted for the next three years.
Sometimes the mnill was run day and night to fill the demand
for building lumber..
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T The winter of 1857-58 was the cornmeal winter,” Ross
recalled. '"There wasn't a 50 »sound sack of flour in the
whole neighbornood. ‘e snent most of the time those long
winter evenings sitting stracddéle of a spade over a washtub,
shelling corn. The neighbors would t.i7. turns golils aro g
an¢é gathering it up and take it to Towa Talls to get it
grcund., In the spring a man drove into Hazpton with a load
of flour. XFather naid him ,9.00 for one saclkt, this was then
mixed with cornneal to make it go as far as »Hossible. e
had to get back on wheat bread gradually.™

l-J

J. B. Grinnell hinmself wrote of that season: "The hard
times of 1857 were & reality. Coffee gave wav on our tables
to a substitute made of rye and sweetened with sorghum,
sSugar was a luxury as was fine fiour . . « Taxes were unpaid
for years, drawing heavy »nenalties,?

Yet in spite of these difficulties »neovple nanaged to
maintalin a lively soclal intercourse and to attempt to 'kKeep
up with the -orld east of the Tfromtier. Youns Ross com-
plained,”. . . «ind if there were errands to dec I was Ilackey
for the whole town; had to c¢limb trees to cut gzrape vines
for the wonen, with which to make hoopskirts that were com-
ing intc fashion then . . .7

Chapin's first school was a Cuubie log house at the
north side of Tharp's Grove, where in 1857 lirs. Lary .right
instructed the children of the nelghborhood. In 1858 zand
1£5¢ l.iss nattie Lovering taught in her father's house.
During that winter the »upils noticed lir. Lovering doing an
o¢d bit of carpenter work tiiat looked tc them 1like a coffine
Asking who was dead, they were told, "o one just now, out
ny wife is very low, can't live but a few weexs, and I'm
making it so as to have it handy."

4 machine for making hardwood skhingles was sst up by
the Varker brothers on thesir arrival in the spring of 1831,
although they d4id a big business, they sold cut in the fall
to Thomas llorris, who »lanned to nske sih:ingles 1in  warn
weather and to tran otter, beaver, and mink through the
winter,

4L combined church and scaoolhouse was bullt at Chapin
in 185% and was then said to be the best in the county. TS
J. B. Grinnell, pvleased that the town carried her maiden
name, Chapin, donated a fine bell weighing 400 pounds for
the belfry of the new bduilding. Thet bell riust have Dbeen
the biggest then in Franklin County!

H. Z. Grinnell wes an»npointed —>ostmaster when the office
was established in 1860.



Durine the stirring davs of the Civil ‘a2r, »atriotiec
Chapin rave 21 solcéiers to the TUnion forces, & rescord for a
tevn so gmall,

The first relizious services were conductsé in the sunr-
mer of 1857 by the Reverend :r. Jilcox of Towa Fslls, who
traveled over to Chapin regulariv everv two weeXs to holéd &

5 o'cloek service at the schoolhouse.

The Reverend “iHllian ivery came Irom the I=2st anéd or-
fﬁ%l?@d the Tfirst Congresational Church 3t Chanin, the Bap-
ists established a church in 1864, ané the l.ethocéists fo

ed & class in 1870,

B. D. Robinson, cne of the eariiest setutlers, intro-
cduced sheep-raising into the county in 1£50. J De urinnell
also became interested in sheep and brougat in several hun-
¢red head which he let out on shares to the farmers of the
township., By 1863 there were &,000 head of shceep in Frank-
1lin County.

The first nerd of purebred rivlstein cattle west of the
Il.ississippl was assembled during the seveaties ¥y i. B.
Barney. The standard set by this herd was for zany vears to
prove a criterion for the dairy industry of northern Iowa.
Franiklin County was Tfound to be an wusually Tavorable re-
gion for the raising of corn ané stoci, with an zsbundance of
water and excellent grazine land, besicdes rich soil well-
aCapted for cultivation ané the growing of grain. One of
the Barney cows at the age of six years and three months
made 1in seven days' time a recoré vrocuction of 535.4 Tounds
of milk, ecuivalent to 25.1 poundés of butter. =snother Hol-
stein cow, sold by Barney to Charles a. iarg of Cedar Fails
in 1612, and nemed Florence Jewell DeXlol, II, brought a
price of 4174 at the age of ten years. She continued to be
both a heavy nroctucer and a Show COW,

In 1908 when the attendance at the annuai meeting of
the Iowa 3tate Dairv Assoclation was steadily *qlllﬁg, We B
Barney, then »resident of the organization said, ““ar iers
will come a long way to see a good cow, but they'll stay at
hore and »itch hay rather than listen to SNy ooCy exslaﬂnlng
a good cow.”"' He won agreenent from the handful of ﬁe¢egates
and the following year a dairy cattle ei3051t10n was held in
connection with the convention in Cedar Reapid Twenty-five
cows were shown, and nore delegates showed 1nterest in the
reeting, That vear the convenxtion voted to hold the 1¢10
convention an exvosition in aterloo. That was tke birth
of the Dairy Cattle Consress for “/aterloo saw the potential-
ities of the »nroject and dGetermnined to wmake it an ianstitu-
tion. The Cattle Congress was incorporated in 1213,

The Barney hera of pjurebred Holsteln, was crasdited with
being the first herd of its kind west of the illssissippi

o7



River. His son, C. H. EBaraey, continued to cédevelop the herd
on the same farm at Chasnin.

weanwhile, the original town of Chaplin had becone &
ghost town. Orficials of the Iowa Central Railway had
chosen a statlion two miles east of it twvhen threy built
through in 1871. The result was the »nlatting of INew Chapin
July 28, 1872 by George Beed and Obadiah Smith, surveryor.
The first post office was established on campletion of the
railroad, ané the first school was built six years later.

January 20, 1¢22, the Chapin Consolidated Schoevl, a
modern brick building, was dedicated in open Louse cere-
rmonies. with an elaborate »rograr. During the afternoon,
music was furnished by the Chapin band; an early dinner was
served in the gymnasium by the ladies of the community, and
in the evening there was a ccncert by the orchestra. 3Sever-
al outstanding Iowa educators made speeches.

In 1941, inhebitants of the prosperous, harmonious town
could trace thelir ancestry back to many countries in Europe
as well as to original settlers from Indiesna or the East.

Focal points of commercial and cultural zctivity were tw
grain elevators, two churches, andéd the american Legion hall.

GELTEVA

Geneva, a station on the Minneapolis and 3St. Louls
Railroad, formerly the Iowa Central, was lald out an plat-
ted by William J. kcVey in September 1€71. A post office
had been established on the site as early as 1858, with
William H. Thompson as postmaster. Several people had been
iiving nearby since 1854, among them Job Garner, 7Peter
Rhinehart, and Lartin Boots, whose home was the gathering
place for the reliigious-minded.

The first schoolhouse was built iIn 1857, and taught by
William Thompson. A more permanent school was constructed
in 1862 and used until 1873, when it was scld at auction.
E. C. Clock purchased the buvilding, had it nioved to Geneva
and after it had been enlarged and decorated, opened it as
Geneva House, a hotel., Clock had put up the first store in
town in October 1871 and oréered a stock of $8,000 worth of
gocds to be so0ld 1locally. Ee became »nostmaster, then he
sold the hotel in 1875 to &a. P. McCardle and himself went
into the grain and lumber business. By 18El he was operat-
ine the Geneva Creamnery, a concern that within two years!
time was handling a heavr share of the county's nilk, Like
Chapin, Geneva became a leading dairy ceater.

Tidd and Silence openeé¢ a drug store in 1&E0C, but soon

this was operated by Doctor Tidd alone, the only physician
in the community.
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A tract of land of 233 acres was purchased from Cloek
in 1888 and there & two-story frame house &nd some barns
were bullt as the nucleus of the County Home. Through the
vezrs the provnerty was imnroved and modernized +to meet
changing standards.

A l:ethocist Lnisconal Church was OLgaaw eG at Geneva 1in
i e

1873 by the Reverend qug t and services were nslid in th
loczsl schoolhcuse until a $2,000 church building was erected
in 1882. 3t. Paul's Catho tic Church vas organized by the
Reverend J. C. Wienke in June 1913 and the cornerstone for

the church laid ITovember 18, 1913. Zhis grocup had been
meeting formerlvy in Woodman Lall. Gereva was ilucorporasted
as a village in 1203.

Towa's first auto fatality took nlace between Geneva
anC Hampton the night of Sept. 29, 1203, when F. A. Earriman,
W. Beed, E. L. Iarrison anéd M. . Inglis wvere driving 1in
Harriman's car. They were returaing from a trin to check up
anG take formal pessession of tne Geneva savinas Bank, or-
ganized in 1¢02 as a »rivate institution snd »urchased in
July 1905 by a group including the motorists and others. At
© D. M., the party started home, taXkxing the old L.aysville
road, and motoring down a steep Rill at the hair-ruising
speed of 30 miles an hour. Harriman lost control of the
steering wheel. The <front wheel of the car struck the
bridge with such force that the occupants were thrown from
the machine. All escaped serious 1injury excenti Iiarriman,
who was picked up unconscious from concussiocn of the brain.
He died soon sfterward.

One of Franklin County's most disast ous storms struck
Geneva on a late midsummer eafternoon in 1827, darmaging the
consolidated schcol. The roof was TI“DGd ofT, holes torn in
the boarding, an entire section of window frames torn out and
rnost of the glass on two sicdes of the builéing broken. Rain
poured through the wrecked rcof and soaxged walls, floors,
and furniture, contributing to the $3,000 damage, The storm
had apparently come from & point soutaheast of Iiuanipton,
sweeping across a stretch +two iniles wice, cnd reacning the
height of its fury about a mile northwest of Geneva, camnag-
ing the crops and trees 1in 1ts »nath.

Iocal residents heve distinguished thearselves 1in lTowa's
most tynical netcech of prowess, the cora husiing contest.
arthur Raisch of Geneva won the TFrarklin County title in
1639 and successfully defended it in 1S40 =while crovds of
interested onlookers followed the bare-hexzded and snirtless
husxers working their way dovm the rows of corn to the tune

— e~

of flyine ears that struck the bangboards. Eis 10oal &:i:0uBilTTG

TOo .2,858 . pounds of net corn. Eerman Rici ts"e¢er, also of
Geneva, won second »nlace in 1940 with 2,637 2ounas Rudeloh

l.ever of Hampton came in third with 2,b06.65. The contest
was held October 18, at the V. C. Pralle farm west of
Hampton.
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At Feur Mile Grove zre the araves of Thomas Jones and
other members of the Jones fanily. These wneople were »drom-
inent in the history of the +vicinity. Levi Jones had come
to Franxlin County in 1854 with his son-in-law, Isaac Lul-
xins. Both bought land. In the snring they were Joined by
thelr families andé alsco by Jabish Jones, another brother.
Later on alpheus Jones scléd his »roperty in Buchanan County
andéd joined the others.

Another o0ld cemetery, sonewnat farther north, and ar-
lier xnown as God's acre, was on the south sice of Zighliand
Grove, Luring the winter of 1€57 David Church and his wife
buried thelir infant son there on the crewn of the vluff. 4
féw years later several other chiléren were 1aid to rest by
the side of the first. Thereupon Church donated an =z2¢cre or
rmore of his. .land to serve as & ceuetery, and this was acded
to from 2adjoining land by V. L. Thompson. From this hill
was & far-reaching view, extencéing in the northwest toward
Hampton, to the west over a wide expanse of prairie dotted
with many groves, and toward the south over the site of ths
village of Yavsville and azlong the winding coursse of Kame's
Creek.
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CEAPTER 1C
CTHER TOWNS CF FRAWKIIN COUNTY

LikXe so many other towns, Alexander wa

as a station on the Iowa Central railwey, 1
not nlatted, however, until June 8, 1lEE€5, wh
lai¢ it out for ¥F. £. Carter. E. B. n¢11 a
master in 188Z, opened a genersl stere at th
o

ors

first located
i881. It ”aS

<

sohointed post-
at time. Soon
thereafter a grain elevator wes erectsd, ana
to be a busy trading center. It was incorpors

the town grew
ted in 1902,

Alexander was scon 7recoegnized as one of the most ini-
nortant cormiaunities in the county, situated as it was in the
best of Iowa's countryside, where in spring every mile was
checkered with vistas of leCk-plowed ground andéd p&ale green
vastures, and in late sunmmer and early fall the fields were
lzacden W;uh heavy golden grain.

Saturday nieht was always an  “event' articipated
throughout the ntire weei; and after counting the hours,
farn folk finlshed up their final chores, in a hurry to
hitch up the horses and ride into town to hear a stirring
concert by the Alexander Bress Baznd. The musicians, who
were local Dbusiness men as well as - dentists, lawvers and
merchants made an impressive sicht in their colorful uni-
forms, and the audience, young »neople and old =alike, felt
the urge to march or dance to the tunes of the Vashingten
Post March or The Beavtiiful Blue Danube as the strains
floated cdown Trom the outdoor bpandstant. In later vears,
when hitching posts gave way to varking spaces on the main
street, a swelling chorus of automobile horns woulé encour-
&ge the musicians to give gesnercus encores.

LY

Alexander xept up with the times, andé there came a day
vears later when one of the best-known residents of the con-
rmunlity, €1 yvear-old Jerry DeVries, took his first airplzane
ricde and Joined the ranks of the couwnty's “air-ninded” Citi-
Zenry. lir. DeVries said he exnerienced no pangs of fear,
but on the contrary had an Xh1¢arating uhrlll from his
first trip in the air. e said he would anxicusly awseit his
next on»nortunity te flv.

The cdavs of early netural hazards hadé nassed. 0O long—
er did the settlers need to be on the lookout for »prairie
?1rev, and snug hones anéd adecuate heating systems thwarted
or minirmized the intense colid of winter. Lowever, there was
one tvne of ilaturets fury that could descend without warning
from the s'ties. Such was the twister or tornado that struck
alexander and the farm families living northeast of town in
June 1¢25, It left a long line of wrecked lLicmes and farm
buildings from ialexander to the I. T. Dean and Henry Gerfin
farms northwest of Chapin.
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The storn ame Tronr the scuthwest 2nd kit Alexander
first, destroving hcuses and vunrooting trees. Windows were
blown out and two churches derniolished. A train loaded with
hogs was blown from the tracks and the cars turned upside
down. Mo one was hurt howvever, and only zbout twelve of the
hogs were xi1lled. In the denot nearby were E. S. Packard
ant his two srall sons, Harold and Ed. When Packard felt
the force of the storm against tke Dbuilding, ke stcod close
to the boys and waited. Suddéenly the wind tock the walls of
the station and three persons were thrown tce the Tfloor.
When the storm had »passed on they got up a2nd found that
everything was gone except a pile of paners and office rec-
orés which had been scattered over then.

many farm buildings were cestroyed but few neople were
hurt and none seriously. Chris Larsen, marshal at Alexand-
er, suffered a broken leg; Alfred Anderson and his son,
Donald, received heed wounds and brulses; Eenry Fals suffer-
ed a fractured hip. The Harvey Henme's place was entirely
wiped out Dbut the Hemmes farily, seven 1n number, found
shelter in the basement of their home and were saved. HEenm-
mes had two teams of horses standing in the barn with their
harnesses on. The wind toolk the barn first and then the
horses. It carried the animals through the &air, over the
ton of a grove and cet them down three-cuarters of a mnille
away on the edge of the Ike De»ping lawn. -hen the horses
were found by Hemmes they had no sign of a harness on then
but, as the storv zoes, they were not badly injured, al-
though they were sktot full of splinters. Seven hundred
little chickens at the Herries place were lost 1n the wind.

At the I. T, Deam farm the buildings were a total wreck.
The W. J. Zvens famnily lived here and when they saw the
twister coming they started for the cellar but were too
late. The house was whirled away and Evans was injured, and
his nmother also. 3She was taken to the Ham»ston hosnital
where she recovered.

The proverty and livestock losse in this Franklin
County storm were estimated zt ,250,000, In addition to the
machinery damaged, buildings blown down snd livestock ki11cd,
Lhors also was a heavy 1loss in crops which were ruined by
the wind. In some places Turrows were pliowea tiitrcugh the
fields by the wind, leaving the land bare, and at other
places the corn was stripped of leaves and only stubs left
standing in the ground. HZundreds of TFranxlin County people
whe were untouched Dby the storm went out to help their
nelghoors clean up debris and start the rebuilding of their
homes. n:ore than a hundred men went out fron Hamnton and
others fram Coulter, Chapin, Latimer and Skefifield. People
gave linen, towels, and household supplies to those who had
lost thelir homes. Tnls storm, while not so severe as the
Pomeroy Cyclone, was one of the worst in Iowa,
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One of the =worst storms that ever swept over Franklin
County struck early in TFebruary, 1836 during a cold wave
that had continued for 28 consecutive days with nminimum
temperatures below zero. Roads were blocked and trains and
autos stalled when 1liss Phyllis Smith, Gaughter of a farmer
living three and one-half ailes northeast of Alexander, was
sudéenly stricken with appendicitis. The Smiths called
Alexander and Hamnton for assistance, but no physician was
able to reach them. after an anzlous night and a recurrence
of the attack, they resclved to get their daughter to a hos-
Dital where she could have an operation. She was bundled in

nxets and packed into a large bobsled filled with straw,
1nd her father and her brother ILeonard harnsssed a team in
the 20-below-zero weather anéd started for town. All along
the wavy, crews of men living at the farms en rocute came out
and helped to shovel & path through the snow-packed rovagd,
while from the alexander end another group sta rted shonellng
through the 10 ané 12 foot érifts there. The Hampton Chron-
icls of Februvary 13, 1936, cescribed the heroic journey, in
part, as follows:

PO

"When the perty firally reached Alexander the weather

wee so ferocious that only the serious condition of the girl
dared them to go farther. anotner team was hitched to the
sled and the party started south to Iighway 10 where State
Zlghway snow nlows were striving desperately 1o clear the
roadwaey

"After the first half mile of struggle through the
drifts the team was exhausted, and another team tcok over
the job of pulling the sled through six and eight foot
arirts, which, though packed hard, allowsd the teams to sink
trvouph. ohovclerQ several u*des had to éig out the teams
after +thevy had floundered and also breack a path for the
sled.”

Two more tearms 1in turn had to be hitched to the sled
and by late afternoon, when within two and a half miles of
the hichway, the fourth team Tloundered and was unable to go
any farther. “"Then the crew of nmen, many with frozen faces,
some with frozen hands, and at least one with frozen feet,
hitched themselves into the traces like so many Iskimo dogs
and dragged the heavy sled down across filelds, through
¢rifts and over frozen grouwnd to the highway, -:iiieh @ they

ached at 4:30 in the afternoon after covering the seven
& half miles in seven and a helf hours.®

An ambulance and State Hishway plows met the sled and

the crew a2t tTh

¢ highway and the sick girl was conveyed as
speadily =s pcssibl to the Iutheran Hospital at iHampton.
After an smergency operation had been perfornmed, young

Phyilis Suiith cormenced a recovery that nrogressed unimpair-
ed by the hardships she had eariier bufferea.



Conrac ‘lestweber, one of the men who helped the team
to get through from Alexander to the highway, haéd his feet
frozen on the walk back and later also had to be taken %o
the hoszital., His condition was serious, but he also re-
covered.

although 211 the names of the men who had helped bat-
tle through the drifts and cut a path for the sled could not
be learned, the Chronicle published the following partial
list: Chris Ilarsen, Russel larsen, Dick Smith, Ieiko Pals,
Lioydé Butterbaugh, Ray Richard, Heiko Frohling, Fred larsen,
Lloyd Green, cack ill, Clifford Ilansen, Merle Fansen, Wil-
burt Hansen, Eenry Schulte, Glenn Neal, Matt Strife, Louis
Jacobs, Ilell Stoffer, OCscar Hansen, George Kaduce, Chris
Sciulte, Conrad Westweber, Oscar Hansell, Barlow Deering,
Henry lloCdermann, Bill Tinkey, Clydée Blau, John Blau, IHenry
Bowman, Barney COlson, Ernest harms, Charles Showalter, Jerry
Beenen, Henry Beenen, Fraunk osohlen, Charles ‘Jinwood, ~rithur
Winwcod, Clauss iiodderman, Carl Barkema, Clarence Smith,
Peter Pals, Robert RoGemeyer, and John Osterdorf.

IATILE

ILatimer was named for J. F. Latimer, whe 13id out and
platted the town 1n November 1882, about the time the Iowa
Central Railroad began operations. The point was made a
station on the line, and a post office was established there
in Septewmber 1882, with H. A. Clock as postmaster. In thet
year the firm of Clock arn.d Clock began & general mercantile
business.

Several vigorous religious denominations becane identi-
fied with ILatimer. One of +these was St. Peter's Danish
Lutiieran Church, organized in 1883 with the Reverend II.
Peterson as nastor. The first house of worship, built about
four miles from town in 1893, was destroyed when it was
struck bv lightning and burned to the groundé. A new bulld-
ing was erected in 1903. The Iatimer IlethoCist Eplscopal
Church was organized april 7, 1893. The Reverend 4. S.
Flanigan dedicated the church building Movember 11, 1893.

St. Faul's Lutheran Church was organized ilarch 3, 1895,
the Reverend C., A. Dietrich »residing at the first meeting,
heid in th Iatimer schoolhouse. The group's own building
was put vp the following year. July 7, 1835, this church
celebrated its fortieth anniversary. The small group that
had orgenized in 1895 had grown to neariy 3500 »persons. A
week-long cbservance was arranged by the pastor, the Rever-
end E. BE. Grauoner, and included several former pastors,
church notables and Tformer members of the congregation.
anong these were the Reverend Theodor Iannsen of Chicago,
The Reverend (Gtto Beer of Springfield, Iilinols. The Rever-
end Lkir. Beer, who had grown up in the Iatimer congregation,
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was ordained a minister and spent 10 years in the nissionary
fielé in Brazil before locating in Illinois. =& brief histo-
ry of the organization compiled for the occasion acknowledgad
vhe  foermer s church at !iillponé (Beed's Izake) as the mother
church., The difficulties of attending early services were
described as follows: *PRoads that at certain times of the
vear were almost impassable had t0o be negotizted with horses
and lumber wagon. Forced to cross creexs and marshes, the
horses at times mired down, singlétrees broxe, and traces
snapped in an attempt to get an empty wagon through low
places.!

“hen it was found that enough Lutheran families resided
in and near ILatimer to Justify the holding of additional
services in the ccmzunity, the Rsverendé Dietrich, pastor at
xillipond at the time, was asked to preach in a schoolhouse
in Marion Township, three niles north of Iatimer, in 1894.
The services were so well attended that »nlans were made Ior
a permanent organization.

iany busy years were ahead of Latiner.

ed in 1&%3.

P;

The Farmers! Cooperative Creanery was und

During the early 19¢00's tThe axnnual harvest lione Festi-
val was celebrated at Latimer. ileighborhood gatierings were
arranged with races, basebail games, glee c¢ub and band
music in the daytime, and in the evening dancing and dramat-
ic entertaimnments.

Latimer was incorporated as a town in 1901,

In 1902 a city waterworks was voted and 1installed at a
cost of 36,00C.

The Latimer Star, a four-column cquarto newspaper, ran
from 1901 To 1918, wben sublication ceased and all news was
transferred to uhe Iatircer column in the hianoton Chronicle.

Constructed without issuance of a bond and without
Government aid, the Tatimer Grmnasium was built by the dis-
trict in 1235, at a total cost of $14,000. Seats were in-
stelled for 560 court fans. Serving as an auditorium for
plays, the symnasium could accormodate about 8GO0 people,

The basketball court was built 40 by 72 feet and the
stage 35 by 18 feet with a dressing room at each side. The
boys' and girls! shower znd locker rooms were located in the

asement. The building was heated by a forced-draft furnace.
Aan amex contained a large home-economics room which could
also be used for dinners and bancuets. The building was
constructed of face tile, zinc flash 1in color, with a hard
maple floor.
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BUPLETTRE

Burdette, a station on the Rock Island Railrosd, for-
merly the Burlington, Cedar Rapids and i'prthern, was founded,
about 180 to provide a shipping point for the farmers in
the surrounding country for their vast supplies of grain,
milk, and livestock. It was established through the influ-
ence of a large larnd-owner with the samewhat unusual nsme of
nazel Boddy. Boddy had 1,76C acres of land, including three
of the four corners jJjoining the cross road nearest his home.
Aan astute dealer and livestock shipver, he persuaded the
railroaé company to put side tracks a2nd stceekyards at a
point nearest his feeding pens, less than a quartsr of
riile between his homestead and the railroad tracks.

)

R

At first the community which grew up around this sta-
tion was nown as Hazel Bocddy's Switch, but by Septerber
1€¢0 it had received the egually »icturesgue name of Iilleva-
tor Gap. The following wmonth the place was officially
christened as Burdette.

The local vost office was originally operated from the
home of the D. D. Goodenough Tfamily. Trains did not stop
for the mail, but the mail bag was hung on & frame near the
railroad tracks and trainmen grabbed it as the train rushed
DY the rlace. The in-coming m2il was thrown out in ancther
meil bag. After the store and d&epot was built the +train
made regular stops, a service which continued until 1933.

The Ilee Center Church was built in 1890. 3Byron Derby-
shire dwmated a corner of his farm for its location and the
railroad cuwpany sent a special engine from JTowa Falls with
the lumber for the building. =mverycne was proud of the new
church. It stood very tall against that early skyline.
Citizens would point it out to visitors, proudly saying,
'Look, cur church can be seen five miles away." The church,
was organized largely through the efforts of Lr. and lrs. J.
I. Boganrief, Byron Derbyshire and others who cocntributed in
every way that they could. The bulilding was dedicated Feb-
ruary 1, 1891, with the Reverend kr. Kirk presiding and the
Reverend lir, Clinton delivering the sermon.

During its yvears of growth -- from 1€90 to 1900 -- Bur-
dette had a schoolhouse and a number of business fims, two
grain elevators, a general store, a hardware store (which
served as the +town hall), a creamery, a blacksmith shop,

livery stablie, and scale house. There were many - corncribs
and some dwelling houses.

The creanery was a busy vlace. Ousitorers and patrons
net to talk things over at the »ump, just outside the build-
ing. At one time a skirming station was felt necessary, vutb
after cream separators came into general use the skimming
station was discontinued and a few years later was almost
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entirely forgotten, Hovever, the 0léd »ump rem2ined, and was
still identified as the “Toqn Punmp.”

Two churches that were active organizations irn Burdette
for several years were originally formed and held in the
schoolhouse. One was the Congregational Church which, with
the Reverend Mr, Vyatt as pastor, built its owm huuse of
worship in 1894, and the Methodist Episcopal, which was also
able to build in 18¢5, under the leadership of the Reverend
Cacde Coulter,

In 1897, Hazel Boddy, wio had been almost enitirely the
1life of the town, left Burdette. Le xchangeé his 1,760
acres of Franklin GCounty land with L. ¥W. Conover and B. H.
Henry for 20,000 acres ¢f Texas lisnd, and soved south with
his family. Boddy had skipped huncreds of fat cattle and
hogs to Chicago every vear. One yvear he shioped 50 carloads
of cattle alone,

HAL SELL

Wnen the DLubucgue and Dakota Railroag, 1at¢r to become
the Chicago Great Western, was first mappe through this
region ab\ﬁt 1872%, the station of Han ell WES buiit. The
line to Hampton was finished in 1876.

The town was named for George ¥. Hanseil, who became
the first postmaster when the post office was established
there in 1880, The town was called Hansell's for a time, in
tribute to the man who handed out the m&2il, but the posces-
sive 's' was soon dropped. Hansell wa platted in the fall
of 1880, and by the summer of 1881 covered a territory of
15 acres.

George Hansell built an elevator in 1880 with a capaci-
ty of 14,000 bushels. In 1882 he Dbuilt another with a
20,000 Dbushel capacity. Like so many others of the times
who found it profitable to engage in several different types
of business at once, Hansell also carried on a lumber andé
stock business, and in 1883 erected a large store building.

The Tnion Ridge nost office, established in 1860 with
Isaac Stover as postmaster, was noved to the houes of the
succeeding postmasters, and soved to Duriont when the rail-
road came through. When the Liansell vost office was estab-
lished in 1880, the Cream #Hill L»ost office was discontinued.

P0PEJOY

A station on the Rock Island Raillroad was platted by
the Cedar Rapids, Iowa Falls & Northwestern Town Lot Coupany
on Sentember 28, 1l€80, as Carleton. The nane was afterward
changed to }opeJoy honoring the early settler, that ‘'cattle
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king™ who had been such a colorful character in the early
days of Oakland Township. -

A new 346,000 Popejoy high school and grade building
was officially dedicated on Friday, Junc 9, 1939. Dcdica-
tion ceremonics took place in conjunction with the annual
Oakland township school picnic, 4 portion of the funds
amounting to ;20,700 was saccured by a PWa grant.

Like some of thc other towns in Franklin County, Pope-
joy, or rather the scttlement that preccded the town of that
namc,was once struck by a tornado. Thc county history pub-
lished i1n 1883 1relates: "Those living in Oakland Township
in 1875 <can never forgcet ths fearful tornado which swept
through their township the summeoer of that year. It unroofed
many houses, tore down fonces, and picked up cattle and
horses, carried them to a great distance and crushed them to
pieces. Barns of large proportions wcrs moved from thelir
foundations and demolishcd; stately trces which had with-
stood the storms for & ccntury were uprootid zand tossed
about 1like slender shrubs. a4 schoolhouss, locatsd on Scc-
tion 19, in which Miss A. Popejoy was teaching, was blown to
pieces, she having 1lcft the building but a short time before
the storm camc up.™

A »Dost office was cstablished Junc 18, 1888 at Popejoy,
with J. W. Finch first postmastcr,

The town was incorporatcd in 1808,

COULTER

Coulter's vnost office was establishcd and Gecorge Propst
was commissioned postmaster April 30, 1902.

A station had existed at this point since the 1880's
when the Chicago, Gr:sat Western Railway bugan opcerations
through that territory. The scttlement grew into a trading
center with a crcamcry and a grain elcecvator in addition to
various stores anég shops.

Large crcocws of voluntc:r workcrs from GCoultur assisted
stricken farmers to repair tue damages done to their proper-
ty July 1, 1¢33 when a severs wind aad rain storm ripped
across the southcern part of Franklin County. The storm
broke at night, about 11:30, wrecking barns, corncribs, hog-
houses, windmills and other farm buildings, uprooting large
trces and Xilling and dispprsing livestock. The damage 1in
Franklin County was scstimated at $515C,000., The storm con-
tinued across northern Jowe into Illinois, finally spending
itself over Iakc Ilichigan. Largce trecs wesre uprootcd and
wholec groves dating from nionccr Gays destroycd. ZEvergreens
in the Morgan Township Cemctery and at the itiount Hope Ccme-
tery were snapoed off. PFarm aninals werce xilled and many
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pcrsons cscapcd death by narrow margins. Fallen trecg and
debris blockcd the entrances to some homes so completely
that the residents had to chop their way out. Henry F. Lub-
keman, president of the Franklin County Farm Burcau, sent
out many voluntecrs who helpcd cican up the wreckage, stack
grain, and help farmers carry on with their harvcsting.

BRADFORD

Bradford, the newest town in Franklin County, was laid
out and platted November 10, 1206, by thc Bradford Town Site
Company, of which G. 4. Dodge was prcsident and J. W. Souder
secretary, An elevator, coalyards, storcs and homes were
constructed and soon the community began to draw trade from
a large radius of ths surrounding country. The Bradford
Savings Bank was established in 1908. The lcthodist Episco-
pal Church was built in 1912 at a cost of $3,C00.

Although the town of Bradford was not organized until
years after othcr placcs in the county had becen well cstab-
lished, settlers had 1lived in the vicinity since 1860. The
first persons known to have made their homes in the  general
locality were James Sayre, amos Roberts and -t mun -namcd
Macey and Stoddard who were residing there just prior to the
Civil War. The Reverend Mr. Woods of Maysville, a Methodist
minister, preached +the first scrmon at the house of J. E.
Moats in 186Q@., Also held at the DMoats home was the first
school, taught in 1869-1870 by Jennie Roberts.

FAULKNER

The post officc at Faulkner was estublished in 1871,
Seven years later the town was laid out and platted as a
station on the Iowa Ccntral Railroad, later the Minneapolis
and St. Louis. The first grain buyers were the firm of
White and Austin, and the first merchants, Mclzin and Son.

Although nevsr incorporated, Faulkner remained a trad-
ing point with 2 lumberyard and a grain elevator. Its
growth was halted in MNovember 1908 by a disastrous fire
which razed the post office, the gecneral store, and a num-
ber of other buildings nearby. The fire started in thc gen-
cral store, located in 2o double store building, 2and soon
spread to the surrounding structures. Its origin was & mys-
tery.

Ghost iowns

| Fourtcen. of the towns cstablishsd in the gradual devel-
opment of the county werc later abandoned as population and
interest shiftecd with thse county's growth. Iaysville in
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Reeve Township wag the first platted in thie couwnty. It was
1aid out by zllllam.‘ay in 1856 anG was named for Yillian
llay, @a soldéier irn Company H 3zrd Iowa Infantry during the
Civil VVar. It had a post office from 1837 to 1875.

Coldvater, in ‘est Fork Township, was a post office
from 1657 to 1875 when it was moved into Busler Countye.
Congress, in Hamilton Townskip, was & vost office, 1873-75.
Cream Hill, in Ingham Township, was a post office in 1e78,

Elide was listed 2s a post office in tkhe U. S. Officiel
PeOicter, 1€73, but is not given on the maps of that period.
Ingham, in West Forx Township, was a nost office, 1887-1875.
l’enzie, 1in Inghamr Township, was a post office from 1871 to
1€76. Caklard Vallex was & Jrosperous village in  Oskland
=ownsb1p, platied in “857 It had a post office from 18%2
tc 1&8¢7. Otisville, ©@arily in %Wright County, was 2 post
office prom. 1857 to 1880 it was moved when the railrozdéd
came, and its name changed to Dows,

Reeve, in Reeve *ownsnlp, had a 2ost office from: 1893,
to 1900. ohobe's Grove in Richliand Townsh v, ws namned for
John Shobe and his wife, Evellne ™Ifood! ’Hoae. It was a
post office from 1863 to 1873 and was xnown widely for the
thick woodland which “abounded ir fine hardwoodé trees. There
were plenty of walnut, butternut, hickory-nut, wild plum and
cherry trees... also red naws, crab apnples and basswood and
wild gra»e vines. There were refreshing springs of pure
water which the people sought out andéd bullt their homes be-
side them.” “hen the railroad was built this town was moved
and called Sheffield,

On the exact site of Reeve, the R. E. &. power plant
began coperation in 1837, and eventually served six different
cocunties over 2,700 miles of line. Frankliin County was tke
first county in the United States to receive funds appropri-
ated to build such a plant. The plant was at first ecuipned
with cne 750 horsenowe;, one 1,000 horsejpower and one 1,500
horsepower Diesel  engine, deve¢oplng 525, 700 and 1,05C kil-
owatts respectlvelj. To nieet adclt¢onal needs, the govern-
ment appropriated another $120,000 for the installaticn of =&
2,000 horsevower engine. The service reached 6,000 custonmers
in 1941, and the fuel consumption was about 45,000 gallons,
at a Xilowatt production of about 550,000, To satisfy a
growing demand, the Xkilowatt production was expected to be
raised to 1,150,000 by 1944,

Union Ridge, in Tiigham Towmship, was a post office,
1859-75. ‘“ashburn, in Ross Township was a post office in
1871.
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CHAPTER 11
THE DI&MOND JUBILEE

Seventy-five years had passed over the city of Hampton
and the domain of Franklin County since John Mayne had
brought his oxen to a halt before the woods which were to
bear his name. With the recurring seasons the prairie rose
had bloomed again and again; ragged fringes of asters, ros-
inweed, goldenrod, and black-eyed Susans had starred the
roadsides in autumn, whiie the hickory leaves burned to golg,
and the red sumacs blazed. Seventy-five Noveambers had
brought the wild geese flying low over Hampton again in
smoky flocks. :

Three-Tourths of a . century of harvest had f£illed the
granaries of Franklin County with the fruit of progress. In
the month of June 1931, Franklin County celebrated the pass-
ing of these years with the Diamond Jubilee,

The celebration started Sunday, June 18 with special
services at all the churches of Hampton. Orsen G. Reeve,
son of James B. Reeve the oldest pioneer setiler, was at the
head of the invitation committee and thousands of @pecople
filocked into Hampton for the two-day Jubilee. t was esti-
mated that there were from 8,000 to 12,000 visitors on Sun-
day and from 15,000 to 20,000 on Monday.

The most striking feature of the jubilee program was
the pageant parade of the second day. Colorful and impres-
sive, it ~stretched out for 40 blocks ané told in graphic
outline the long history of Franklin County. There was John
Mzyne and his family in a covered wagon ané on the next
float were James B. Reeve and Addison Phelps, re-enacting
the story of the meéting with Mayne, the setting up of the
first tent and the building of the first campfire. So the
long album of events was recorded as float after float
passed by. Even o0ld Doc. Mitchell was portrayed, and with
his long whiskers unéd {iowing beard was the humorous figure
of the parade.

The second half of the parade was devoted to agricul-
ture and showed the development of that phase of Franklin
County life, The fullness of the county's growth was shown
from the breaking of the first sod and the planting of the
first fields of flax to the introduction of tested and high-
1y productive dairy herds. The raising of fine hogs, cattle,
shecp, and poultry, the later planting of alfalfa and of
corn and other grain crops were all portrayed.:

The committee in charge of the parade was headed by
George D, Patterson who acted as grand marshall, and the
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event was carried off on time and with no accidents in spite
of the fact that there were at least one hundred teams of
horses used and these horses were accustomed to the quiet
fields of outlying farms and not to the gay color, the
shouting crowds, and the stirring rusic of the bands.

After the parade was over there was a league baseball
game between the Waterloo and Rock Isiand players which left
Rock Island victorious with & score of 7 to 6.

In the evening Cimigotti's trained horses entertained
the crowds gathered on the grassy hillsides which surround
Ilott's field and the hkiusquakie Indians from Tama put on a
colorful program. The Indians presented first a concert by
the Tama Indian Band under the direction of Eddie Davenport.
This was Tfollowed bdy an elogquent address in the Indian
tongue by Young Bear, which was +translated by his son,
George Young Bear, a university graduate. Young Bear told
how his neople had been sent away to Xansas by the Govern-
ment to make way for the white man, how they could not bear
the hardships on the dry, barren plains there after they had
known the nlenty of Iowa, how they had saved their Govern-
ment noney to buy land anéd had at last returned to their
native state to buy back their former homes. He said that
now they owned 3,300 acres of land in Tama Ccunty and that
there were about 300 members of the tribe who made their
homes there. He also expressed his pieasure =zt the s.irid
of friendliness shown to his people by the white people of
Iowa and hoped that the two races mignt sometime come to an
even better understanding of each other. George Young Bear
gave a brief sketch of the very early history of his people
and then took charge of the Indian ceremonial dances nut on
by 30 members of the tribe., He explained each dance, show-
ing the meaning it held for his people.

Sunday afternoon, however, was the real homecoming for
Franklin County people. Crowds poured into Hampton. Oney
Fred Sweet was back from Chicago to give the afternoon ad-
dress which he called "Back Home."' Judge Skerwood 4. Clock,
himself a nmember of one of Frankliin County's original fam-
ilies, introduced many of the pioneers and read the nemes of
those who were not there. The Reverend C. J. Barth, pioneer
minister of the county and pastor of 1liarion Center Church
for 31 years,gave the benediction. iusic was furnished by
the Hampton iunicipal Band, the Hampton Chanters, the Minne-
apclis and the 3St. Louls Quartet and by a county choir of
nearly one hundred voices organized and directed by Burton
E. North, superintendent of the school a2t Chapin. Congress-
man T. J. B. Robinson, of the Third Ifowa District, presided
at the afternoon program. The Reverend John D. Clinton of
Payette, a former Hampton boy and son of the Reverend DeWitt
Clinton, gave the invocation.
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In the evening the Invocation was given by the Reverend
J. E. Prichard of Chapin, the scripture reading was by the
Reverend H. L. llichael of Hampton, and the tenediction by
the Reverend lienrv I.. Rust of Sheiffield.

Mayor Ralph R. Stuart introduced Juége 7. D. Zvans, the
first speaker of the evening,and lrs. Evans as the mothir
of a family of children maXing names for themselves, typical
of all the mothers who had played an important »ert in the
building of the county. Judge ETvans talked on "looking Back
Through the Years™, a speech full of incident and action and
heart-stirring stories of early Frznklin County days.

M. 1. Joyce of the Minreanolis ané St. Louls Railroad
Company and a native of Iowa gave events of interest in the
early railroad history of Iowa, especially as it affected
Franklin County.

The final address of the evening was given by Edgar R.
Harlan, then curator of the Iowe State Historical Memorial
and Art Building at Des Moines. Ile paid tribute to Franklin
County andéd gave an outline of the findings of the first sur-
veyors to visit the county. These men had come in 1849 be-
fore there were any settlenents and made an official and
authentic record of the finding of bufrfalo, deer and elk on
the prairies of the early day.

Thousands of historic relics had been collected from
all parts of the county by a committee headed by L. E. Gray
and these, displayed in numerous store indows, drew crowds
of interested spectaters during the two day celebration. Mo
concessions, side-shows or outside attractions were permit-
ted by the Jubilee committee. This was a county affair and
was carried through from start to conclusion by the county's
own citizens and former citizens.

"sn the celebration was over the people of Franklin
County went home. Xnowing the pvast they could feel secure
for the future, a future as significant as the still viviad
past, preserved in the four obscure Dbronze markers, placed
south of Eampton by the D. L. R.
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